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Head of the Board’s Speech
I am pleased to present to you, on behalf of my colleagues in the
Board, the annual report of Oman Development Bank (ODB) for
the financial year ended on 31st December 2018.
I am beginning this report by highlighting the most important
indicators reflecting the Banks’ activities and businesses during
the year 2018.
First: Lending Activity:
Loan Approval:
The Bank, has achieved 95% of the approvals goals for the
year 2018. The micro and SMEs have achieved 103% of the
approvals with a total of 32.7 million Omani Rials, exceeding
the targeted amount of approvals. Whereas, the corporate has achieved 89% of the targets, with a
total of 31.8 million Omani Rials, therefore the total amount, of the targeted approvals within the
operational plan to December 2018, has reached 67.5 million Omani Rials, including the operational
and seasonal loans.
Loan Disbursement
The indicator of the disbursed amounts for loans, including the operational and the seasonal
ones, until December 2018, has achieved of about 72.5 million Omani Rials. Comparing the actual
disbursement with the estimated budgetary, excluding the amounts disbursed for the worker’s
capital, we will find that the total disbursed amounts are about 57.7 million Omani Rials, which
indicates that the disbursement goals have been achieved , reaching 100% of the amounts set to be
disbursed to the developmental loans with the budgetary, where the amount set to be disbursed is
57.7 million Omani Rials until December 2018.
In regard to the operational loans, 14.6 million Omani Rials (81%) have been disbursed from the
amounts set to be disbursed with the budgetary of about 0.66 million Omani Rials until December
2018.
The current balances in the lending portfolio have reached in December 2018 153.2 million Omani
Rials, comparing to 140 million Omani Rials at the end of 2017, with and increase by 13.2 million
Omani Rials (+ 9.45%).
The approvals of the micro-loans, full subsidy for the beginner investors have reached 13.2 million
Omani Rials (20%) from the total amount of the loans approved by the Bank. Whereas the amount
of loans approved for the mega projects has reached 17.15 million Omani Rials (27%). The amount
of the operational loans has reached 14.9 million Omani Rials (23%) from the total amount until
December 2018.
Second: collection:
The performance indicator of the development loans collection has indicated an achievement of
144% for the development loans, where 47.1 million Omani Rials has been collected from the Bank’s
loans without the product of the worker’s capital and the seasonal loans.
Whereas the performance indicator of the operational loans collection is indicating a collection
percentage of 78% from the amount aimed to be collected with the budgetary, where 13.1 million
Omani Rials has been collected.
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The performance indicator of the arrears has reflected the decline in the arrears’ amount, where they
have declined to 9.71 million Omani Rials in December 2018 after it was 10.19 million Omani Rials at
the end of 2017.
The percentage of the non-performing loans (total of the current balances / total debt) has declined
to 6.34%, compared to the end of the last year.
Third: The Financial Situation
The financial list of the year ended on 31st December 2018 has shown an achievement of net profits
of 2.457.182 Omani Rials, compared to 1.225.128 Omani Rials which has been achieved during the
year 2017.
Fourth: Institutional Development Projects for 2018
1. The Strategy and the Development programs :
The Bank has launched the institutional strategy on December 2017, and it has started implementing
its recommendations, mentioned in the strategy plan, at the beginning of the year 2018.
The Bank’s strategy plan is aiming at restructuring the Bank’s business outline radically and
comprehensively, which will reinforce the Bank’s capability to meet its goal of achieving the
compatibility with the business outline of the international development institutions, with preserving
the Bank’s sustainability. The strategy’s general goals are as follows:
Supporting SMEs growth.
Reinforcing the concept of partnership with the Bank’s customers by increase the support given to
the mega- projects and the partnership projects (end-to-end project lifecycle partnership ).
Achieving the exponential growth in the lending portfolio with increasing the independency by
diversifying the funding sources and the Banks sources of income.
Insuring the financial sustainability and minimizing the dependency on the government support.
Providing the technical and cognitive support to the beneficiaries from the Bank ‘’ establishing
information bank ‘’.
2. Developing the Information Technology :
Within the Bank’s strategy, a number of projects are done such as: the projects of updating the
data base and the information management systems and the smart managerial reports, along with
performance monitoring platform. In addition to the project of communications management,
archiving the documents, and meetings managements, along with developing some of the electronic
services and automating the banking transactions.
3. Marketing and promoting the Bank’s Services:
In the frame of the marketing and promoting program for the Bank, the Bank has focused on
participating in the seminars, workshops, thematic exhibitions and the economic conferences, as
well as targeting the projects in the industrial areas all over the Sultanate. The bank has participated
in a number of activities such as:
•

Organizing the Islamic Development Banks Forum (ADFIMI) which has taken place in the Sultanate.

•

Establishing the Investment Opportunities Forum in all the Sultanate’s Governorates.

•

Participating in the ceremony of Omani Women Day which was held in Muscat.

•

Participating in the activities of the General Activities for the Development of SMEs.
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4. The Strategic Initiatives related to the regulatory aspects within 2018/2019 budgetary:
Developing the risks management and other regulatory bodies, such as auditing and commitment,
are one of the new requirements of the institutional strategy, which are approved by the Board. In this
regard, the Board has adopted a system to share the culture of risks management and encouraging
the Bank’s employees to take this approach as one of the priorities of working in the institution. The
board is working hard to develop and update
rules and the systems related to these aspects.
5. Human Resources
Human resources is the generator of the Bank’s businesses, thus the Board has focused on this
crucial source by adopting many approaches to increase the efforts to develop the human resources’
capabilities and abilities, such as implementing training programs in and outside the Sultanate.
6. Information Technology Development
In the frame of implementing the Bank’s new strategy 2018- 2022, and as a result of the fast technical
development in information technology field , the Board has paid a great attention to this approach
by updating the Bank’s systems to keep pace with the development of the banking sector in the
Sultanate. The main banking system has been updated by adding some features which will help the
Bank to provide best services to the customers such as launching some electronic services which will
enable the customers to pay electronically and contacting the Bank via the Internet.
In conclusion, I would like to extend my deepest thanks and gratitude to His Majesty Sultan Qaboos
bin Said, and to the honourable Government for the great support and care the Bank is having. I also
thank the Central Bank of Oman for its continued cooperation with the Bank.
I would also like to extend my thanks and appreciation to the Executive Board and all employees of
the Bank for their efforts in implementing the policies and programs of the Board of Directors.
May God Grant Success

Vice ChairmanAbdul Salam
bin Nasir Al Kharusi
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Economy of Oman
Oman | Credit Rating
The credit rating is used by sovereign wealth funds, pension funds and other investors to gauge
the credit worthiness of Oman therefore having a big impact on the country's borrowing costs. The
government debt credit rating for Oman has been reported by major credit rating agencies. Standard
& Poor's credit rating for Oman stands at BB with stable outlook. Moody's credit rating for Oman was
last set at Baa3 with negative outlook. Fitch's credit rating for Oman was last reported at BB+ with
stable outlook.

Oman Credit Rating ( S&P, Moody’s, Fitch)
Agency

Rating

Outlook

Date

Fitch

BB+

Stable

Dec 18 2018

Moody's

Baa3

Negative

Mar 16 2018

S&P

BB

Stable

Nov 10 2017

Moody's

Baa2

Negative

Jul 28 2017

Fitch

BBB

Negative

Jun 19 2017

S&P

BB+

Negative

May 12 2017

S&P

BBB-

Negative

Nov 11 2016

Moody's

Baa1

Stable

May 14 2016

TE

78

Negative

Apr 16 2016

Moody's

A3

negative watch

Feb 26 2016

S&P

BBB-

Stable

Feb 17 2016

Source: Trading Economics | Ninth Five Year Plan (2016- 2020)
Early in the year 2016, His Majesty Sultan Qaboos bin Said issued a Royal Decree No. 1/ 2016
approving the Ninth Five-Year Plan (2016 to 2020) with a focus on diversifying the economy of Oman
and partnering with the private sector in the development process. The Ninth Five-Year Plan was
prepared due to a number of challenges, most notable of which are the fluctuating global oil prices,
the geopolitical situation in the region and the young population structure that will pressurize the
employment market in the coming years. Tanfeedh Plan is adopting to implement the Ninth Five Year
Plan.
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‘Tanfeedh’ Plan which is an initiative that will play an essential role in linking the different strategies
of the targeted five sectors of Manufacturing, Transportation and Logistics, Tourism, Fisheries and
Mining, and in providing a platform for an active participation and sustainable partnership between
the stakeholders of the public and private sectors. The private sector will now get a chance to invest,
either independently or in partnership with the government, in mega projects that the government
earlier has planned to manage alone. The focus is therefore on achieving real Gross Domestic Product
(GDP) growth to maintain a good standard of living for the people, offer increased opportunities
in training and employment, increase production efficiency and stimulate scientific and cultural
innovation.

Oman | GDP
The International Monetary Fund (IMF) has predicted that Oman will become the fastest growing
economy in the GCC region next year. The sultanate’s real GDP is expected to grow by more than
five per cent in 2019, the IMF said in its World Economic Outlook report. The Fund has revised up
Oman’s 2019 growth forecast 4.1 per cent projected in its April 2018 World Economic Outlook report.
The IMF expects Oman’s economy to grow by 1.9 per cent this year. On the back of increased oil
prices, the IMF has raised its forecasts for 2019 GDP growth rates of all the GCC countries in October
report from its April 2018 outlook. According to IMF, the improved outlook for oil prices contributes
to revisions to growth prospects for oil exporters, given the implied magnitude of the changes in
disposable income.

GCC - Real GDP Growth Forecasts (%)
2018

2019

Oman

1.9

5

Kuwait

2.3

4.1

UAE

2.9

3.7

Qatar

2.7

2.8

Bahrain

3.2

2.6

Saudi Arabia

2.2

2.4

Source: IMF World Economic Outlook Report
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According to reports from World Bank, economic growth is set to modestly recover over the medium
term with GDP expected to increase by 2.3% in 2018 and 2.5% in 2019. In 2018, a boost in the
hydrocarbon sector is expected to drive the recovery as the Khazzan gas production expands. In the
outer years, as the OPEC+ restrictions on oil supply are lifted and as the gradual recovery of oil prices
improves confidence and encourages private sector investment, GDP growth is projected to rebound
to 2.9% by 2020.
Over the longer term, pro-business reforms such as foreign ownership, FDI, SME support and PPP
laws are expected to increase trade and investment. A further impetus to growth will be provided
by rising natural gas exports from the seven-year natural gas supply deal signed between BP and
Oman LNG. Monetary policy will remain tight as interest rates continue to rise. Owing to the hike
in electricity tariffs and the VAT, inflation is expected to inch up to 3% in 2019 before moderating in
2020 as cost push pressures from subsidy reform dissipate.
As the government resorted to borrowing through loans and bonds from both domestic as well as
external sources to finance fiscal deficit, the sultanate’s debt-to-GDP ratio shot up from 31.4% at the
end of 2016 to 39.9% at the end of 2017, and it is projected to increase in 2018.
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Source: Ministry of Finance | Tradingeconomics.com
Early in the year 2016, His Majesty Sultan Qaboos bin Said issued a Royal Decree No. 1/ 2016
approving the Ninth Five-Year Plan (2016 to 2020) with a focus on diversifying the economy of Oman
and partnering with the private sector in the development process. The Ninth Five-Year Plan was
prepared due to a number of challenges, most notable of which are the fluctuating global oil prices,
the geopolitical situation in the region and the young population structure that will pressurize the
employment market in the coming years. Tanfeedh Plan is adopting to implement the Ninth Five Year
Plan.
The government has taken some significant decisions which might have a positive and financial
stability. There have been steps to increase in corporate income tax rate and introduction of Value
Added Taxes (VAT). The adoption of a 5% VAT expected in the beginning of 2020 and higher corporate
income tax are expected to narrow the fiscal deficit to 11.4 % of GDP by 2019. The World Bank pointed
out that in January 2017 electricity subsidies were removed for industrial, commercial and government
users, who collectively consume over 30% of the total energy supply. The government continue to
reduce expenditures in 2018 by containing current expenditure and prioritizing capital expenditure.
The expenditures are reduced by 6.5% in 2016. In addition, there are measures underway to increase
foreign investments in industrial projects such as Liwa Plastic and Duqm Special Economic Zone.
Banking Sector in Oman
Financial Status of Banking Sector
The Oman banking sector is in a healthy position, despite a challenging economic environment.
Innovation through technology will enable banks to improve operational efficiency, augment revenue
and reduce risk, whilst enhancing customer experience. This may offset growing pressure as a result
of the increasing costs of compliance with new regulation.
According Financial Stability Report 2018 issued by Central Bank of Oman, Banks continued to be the
prime financiers for both corporate and household sectors. Within the banking sector, domestic banks
remained the leading players. The banking sector also continued to serve as the backbone of the
payment and settlement infrastructure. The downgrade of Oman’s sovereign rating had an adverse
impact on the credit rating of domestic banks operating in Oman as the rating agencies factored in
the declining ability of the government to support the banking sector. However, the banking sector
continued to display resilience and all banks maintained sufficient capital buffers in line with both
Basel III and CBO requirements. Following the Fed’s lead, CBO’s policy rates (repo rate) increased to
1.95 per cent in December 2017 from 1.19 per cent in December 2016. Similarly, interbank overnight
interest rates also increased to 1.26 per cent in December 2017 from 0.47 per cent in December
2016. The average interest rates on RO deposits increased to 1.67 per cent in December 2017 up
from 1.49 per cent a year ago. Similarly, average lending rates on RO loans also increased to 5.20
percent during December 2017 as compared to 5.08 per cent during December 2016.
The Total Assets (net) of the banking sector in Oman grew at a slower pace in 2017 to RO 30.7 billion
(Gross Assets: RO 31.5 billion) registering a growth of 5.4 per cent during the year as compared to 6.1
per cent in 2016. The slowdown in asset growth was expected given the challenging macroeconomic
conditions faced by Oman. However, the banks operating in Oman may be set for solid growth over
the next several years on the back of diversification of the economy under Tanfeedh program, some
countercyclical measures adopted by CBO during 2018, and the recovery in oil prices.
Oman’s banking sector is always under close monitoring and support from CBO in anticipation of
challenges that are expected in the market. The banks in Oman are divided into three main categories
as foreign banks, local banks, and specialized banks.
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Foreign Banks

Local Banks

Specialized banks

Commercial Banks

Commercial Banks

(Conventional)

(Islamic)

Standard Chartered
Bank

HSBC Oman

Al Izz Bank

Oman Housing Bank

Habib Bank

Bank Sohar

Sohar Islamic

Oman Development
Bank

Bank Melli Iran

AL Ahli Bank

AlHilal Islamic Bank

National Bank of Abu
Dhabi

Oman Arab Bank

Al Yusr Islamic

Bank Saderat Iran

Bank Muscat

Bank Muscat Meethaq

Bank of Baroda

National Bank of
Oman

Muzn Islamic Banking

State Bank of India

Bank Dhofar

Maisarah Islamic
Banking

Bank of Beirut

Bank Nizwa

Qatar National Bank
According to Oxford Business Group, the top-three banks in Oman account for around 64% of the
total banking sector assets. The largest of these is bank Muscat established in 1981 with total assets
of RO 13 billion as in June 2016, claiming a 42% market share by asset base. Bank Dhofar which is
established in 1990 achieving total assets of RO 3.8 billion is the second-largest lender in the Sultanate
of Oman. NBO is established in 1973, and rounds out the big three, with total assets of OR 3.6 billion.
The benchmark Capital to Risk-weighted Assets Ratio (CRAR) of the banking sector remained healthy
at 17.4 per cent at the end of December 2017 as compared to 16.7 per cent a year ago. Despite
significant headwinds, the banking operations continued to be profitable and banks’ pre-tax profit
rose to RO 452 million in 2017 from RO 438 million in 2016.
At the end of 2017, the total stock of NPLs was RO 440 million or 1.88 per cent (2016: 1.78 per cent)
of the gross loans suggesting good asset quality. Banks have adequate provisions and their loan
portfolio is well covered against expected losses as evident from net NPL ratio of only 0.70 per cent
at the end of 2017 (0.60 per cent at the end of 2016).
The special mention loans increased by RO 477 million or 37 per cent (2016: RO 297 million) reaching
RO 1.8 billion or around 7.5 per cent of gross loans of the banks by the end of the year 2017. The
banks comfortably maintained the cash reserve requirements without any significant signs of strains.
During 2017, the lending and deposits of the banking sector grew by around 6.4 (10.1 per cent in
2016) and 5.6 (5.2 per cent in 2016) per cent, respectively. The lending ratio of the banking sector
in December 2017 was at 79.9 per cent which is well within CBO’s prescribed limit of 87.5 per cent.
Moreover, Liquidity Coverage Ratio stood at 216% and Net Stable Funding Ratio at 116 per cent both
being well above the regulatory requirements of 80 and 100 per cent, respectively.
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The Bank’s Credit Performance
of 31/12/ 2018

Amount (RO Million)
Statement
Budget
Branches

Achieved
Achieved/
budget

Corporate

Budget

Branch

Achieved
Achieved/
budget
Budget

Total

Achieved
Achieved/
budget

Approvals

Disbursement

Repayment

Outstanding

31.60
32.70

31.00
32.93

24.00
24.99

96.04

103%

106%

104%

35.90
31.83

24.20
24.80

20.32
22.12

89%

102%

109%

67.5
64.53

55.20
57.73

44.32
47.11

96%

105%

106%

* total Pastdues /total Outstanding
•

Includes the developmental loans, working capital and seasonal loans.
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Pastdues

5.61
* 5.84%

57.47

4.18
* 7.27%

153.51

9.79
* 6.38%
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First: The performance in against the targets:
1. Approvals based on product:
The Bank has achieved 91% of the approval targets in 2018. The micro and SMEs have achieved
104% of the approvals of about RO. 32.22 million, crossing the targeted amount of the approvals.
The percentage of achieving the targets designed for the corporate product has reached 73%, which
is about RO.17.14 million.
The total of the targeted approvals within the operational plan till December 2018 is RO. 67.5 million,
including the Working Capital and seasonal loans.
The following branches has achieved the highest percentages of the approvals:
SL.

The branch

1
2
3
4
5

Al Kamil w Al Wafi
Al Musanaah
Ibra
Al Seeb
Masirah

The percentage achieved

203%
188%
138%
128%
115%

The approvals’ performance to the period January- December 2018- based on the branches
( Term loans )
The approvals
Branch

Targeted

Achieved

%

Al Musannah

1,598,925

3,006,070

188%

Sur

1,688,925

1,922,110

114%

Ibri

1,648,925

1,535,442

93%

Ibra

1,648,925

2,270,060

138%

849,462

977,590

115%

Al Buraimi

1,648,925

1,521,200

92%

Khasab

1,698,925

1,608,910

95%

Al Rustaq

1,648,925

1,874,870

114%

Nizwa

2,498,387

1,953,942

78%

Salalah

2,528,387

1,439,600

57%

Sohar

2,448,387

2,117,350

86%

CBD

1,688,925

1,442,472

85%

Al Seeb

1,678,925

2,145,570

128%

Al Kamil w Al Wafi

1,648,925

3,353,830

203%

Muhoot

1,868,817

1,414,115

76%

Murbat

1,698,925

1,246,419

73%

Saham

2,448,387

2,386,600

97%

Total Branches

30,940,000

32,216,150

104%

Corporate

23,600,000

17,145,000

73%

Total

54,540,000

49,361,150

91%

Masirah
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Approvals’ Performance Statement, based on the Budget, till the end of December 2018 (RO)
Products

Statement

Branches
The targeted

Corporate Branch

Achieved

%

30,940,000

32,216,150

104%

Working Capital

-

214,000

Seasonal Loans

660,000

31,600,000

Term
Loans

Total

approvals

The targeted

Total

Achieved

%

23,600,000

17,145,000

73%

-

12,300,000

14,686,846

267,104

40%

0

32,697,254

103%

35,900,000

approvals

The targeted

Achieved

%

54,540,000

49,361,150

91%

119%

12,300,000

14,900,846

121%

0

0%

660,000

267,104

40%

31,831,846

89%

67,500,000

64,529,100

96%

approvals

The amount of the targeted approvals
under the operational plan as of December
2018 was RO 67.5 million including working
capital and seasonal loans. Accordingly, the
branches achieved 103% of the objectives
set and the corporate branches achieved
89% of the objectives set.

Approvals
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2. Disbursement
Amounts disbursed for loans including working capital loans as of December 2018, is amounted to
RO 75.73 million. By comparing the actual disbursement with the estimated budget excluding the
disbursements of the working capital product, the total disbursements amounted to about RO 42.81
million, which indicates the achievement of the disbursement targets which reached 100 percent of
the estimated amounts disbursed to Term loans in the budget, of RO 42.94 million as of December
2018. For Working Capital loans, RO 14.64 million was disbursed by 126 percent of the estimated
budgeted amount of RO 11.60 million as of December 2018.
For seasonal loans, RO 0.28 million was disbursed by 43 percent of the estimated budgeted
amount of RO 0.66 million as of December 2018.
Disbursements' Performance Statement, based on the Budget, till the end of December 2018 (RO)
Statement

Branches

Corporate Branch

The targeted
disbursement

The targeted
Achieved

%

amount
Term
loans
working capital
loans
Seasonal

Total

Total

disbursement

The targeted
Achieved

%

amount

disbursement

Achieved

%

amount

30,340,000

32,453,233

107%

12,600,000

10,353,284

82%

42,940,000

42,806,517

100%

-

189,000

-

11,600,000

14,450,628

125%

11,600,000

14,639,628

126%

660,000

285,179

43%

0

0

0%

660,000

285,179

43%

31,000,000

32,927,412

106%

24,200,000

24,803,912

102%

55,200,000

75,731,324

105%

Disbursement
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3. Repayment
The performance index for the collection of term loans showed a collection rate of 100 percent for
development loans where RO 33.82million was collected.
The performance of the working capital loan collection index indicates a collection rate of 130
percent of the target amount to be collected in the budget, where the amount of RO 13.09 million
was collected.
Repayments Performance statement based on the budget till the end of December 2018 (RO)

Branches

Corporate Branch

Targeted
Statement

Recovery

Targeted
Achieved

%

amount
Term
loans
Working capital
loans

Seasonal

Total

Total

Recovery

Targeted
Achieved

%

amount

Recovery

Achieved

%

amount

23,746,700

24,646,512

104%

10,219,320

9,176,440

90%

33,966,020

33,822,952

100%

-

140,886

-

10,100,000

12,946,926

128%

10,100,000

13,087,812

130%

254,300

199,765

79%

0

0

0%

254,300

199,765

79%

24,001,000

24,987,163

104%

20,319,320

22,123,366

109%

44,320,320

47,110,529

106%

The following chart shows the bank's performance (development loans + working capital) realized /
targeted until December 2018.
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Second: Approvals for loans
According to the validity of branches and the corporate finance department
The indicators of the performance of loan approvals show that the number of loans financed
decreased by 2% compared to the same period last year, where 5717 loans were approved until
December 2018. A total of 590 loans to the Corporate Branch were approved, representing a 17%
increase in the number of loans financed compared to the same period last year. In addition, 5127
loans were approved for branches with a decrease of 4% compared to the same period last year.
The total value of approved loans as at December 2018 including Working Capital loans stood at RO
64.53 million, an increase of 12% over the same period last year.
Comparison of Region - wise Approvals During 2017&2018 – depending on the regions
Regional offices

Jan- Dec 2018
NO.

Regional office
in Al Sharqiya
Regional office
in Al Buraimi
Regional office
in Al Batinah
Regional office
in Al Dakhliya
Regional office
in Muscat
Regional office
in Dhofar
Total of the
branches
Corporate
Branch

Total

%

Amounts (RO)

Jan- Dec 2017
%

NO.

Amounts

Change and growth
percentages
NO.

Amounts

1328

23%

8,650,915

13%

1293

7,931,215

3%

9%

839

15%

4,686,986

7%

967

5,172,070

-13%

-9%

1576

28%

9,655,890

15%

1608

8,939,175

-2%

8%

328

6%

3,392,035

5%

466

2,530,128

-30%

34%

687

6%

3,625,409

6%

367

4,293,609

0%

-16%

689

12%

2,686,019

4%

627

3,300,365

10%

-19%

5127

90%

32,697,254

51%

5328

32,166,562

-4%

2%

590

10%

31,831,846

49%

504

25,412,603

17%

25%

5717

100%

64,529,100

100%

5,832

57,579,165

-2.0%

12%

The Percentage
of Growth or
Change Jan- Dec
2017-2018
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Approvals till December 2018, based on the governorate:
The total value of approved loans in Muscat Governorate was RO 17 million or 26% of total approvals,
up by 6% compared to last year. approved loans for the South and North Batinah region amounted
to RO 17 million or 30% of total approvals, an increase of 15% over the same period last year.
26% of the total number of loans was financed in Sharqiya Governorate with RO 13.8 million, a growth
of 41% over the same period last year.

Approvals till December 2018, based on the governorate
Jan-Dec 2018

Jan- Dec 2017
%

NO.

Amounts (RO)

16,961,871

26%

577

16,035,215

13%

4,892,765

8%

665

4,343,409

782

14%

10,731,821

17%

881

7,795,316

Al Batinah South

905

16%

6,275,715

10%

831

7,054,790

Al Dhahirah

208

4%

2,596,018

4%

204

2,524,294

Al Dakhliya

177

3%

3,454,679

5%

170

2,694,660

Al Wusta

163

3%

1,691,115

3%

297

2,958,210

Musandam

389

7%

1,608,910

2%

491

1,872,495

Al Buraimi

289

5%

2,489,200

4%

313

2,461,500

Al Sharqiya North

340

6%

2,602,185

4%

309

2,746,320

Al Sharqiya South

1,124

20%

11,224,821

17%

1094

7,097,955

Total

5,717

100%

64,529,100

100%

5,832

57,579,165

Governorates

NO.

Muscat

611

11%

Dhofar

738

Al Batinah North

24

%

Amounts (RO)
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Approved Loans amounts (RO. Million)
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Approvals until December 2018, based on the sector:
Approvals have been distributed to various economic sectors. During the period from January - December
2018, the number of agricultural loans, Animal's Products and fisheries loans reached about 43% of the
total number of loans, of which 27% were for fisheries projects amounting to RO 9 million or 14% of
total approved loans. The number of fisheries loans decreased by 6% compared to the same period last
year. Agricultural and livestock loans accounted for 16% of RO 6.4 million or 10% of approved loans. The
industrial sector accounted for 39% of total loans and 2051 loans. Tourism and professional services
accounted for 25% of total approvals, including 216 tourism projects worth RO 10.44 million.

Comparison of sector-wise Approvals Durin 2017 & 2018 (RO)

Jan- Dec 2018

Sector

NO

%

Amounts

Jan –Dec 2017

%

The percentage of
change between
2018 and 2017

NO

Amounts

NO%

Amounts
%

Agriculture
and Animals

915

16%

6,393,685

10%

1055

6,394,187

-13%

0%

1557

27%

8,998,175

14%

1658

7,070,981

-6%

27%

152

3%

4,602,515

7%

113

3,727,560

35%

23%

75

1%

2,668,249

4%

39

2,520,399

92%

6%

216

4%

10,441,332

16%

168

7,516,361

29%

39%

748

13%

5,541,271

9%

707

4,527,890

6%

22%

2051

36%

24,983,873

39%

2086

25,210,1787

-2%

-1%

3

0%

900,000

1%

6

611,000

-50%

47%

5717

100%

64,529,100

100%

5832

57,589,713

-2%

12%

Products
Fisheries
Educational
Services
Health
Services
Tourism
Services
Professional
and general
services
Industry
Mining

Total
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Distribution of the approvals’ amounts based on the sectors
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Product-wise Comparison of Loan Approvals During 2017 &2018 (RO)

Approvals until December 2018- based on the product
Jan- Dec 2018
Product
Large
Loans
Medium- loans
Small- loans
Micro- loans with
partial subsidiary
Micro- loans with
full subsidiary
Working capital
loans
Seasonal
Total

NO.

%.

Amount

Jan –Dec 2017
%.

NO.

27

0.5% 17,145,000

27

0.5%

5,023,000

8%

37

304

5.3%

8,802,706

14%

1,198

21.0%

5,213,695

8%

3,514

61.5% 13,176,749

573

10.0% 14,900,846

74
5,717

1.3%

26.6%

Amount

NO.

Amount

%

%

50%

39%

6,547,000

-27%

-23%

251

7.107.413

21%

24%

1,063

4,625,961

13%

13%

20%

3,927 14,811,278

-11%

-11%

23%

480 11,900,603

19%

25%

231,187

32%

16%

5,832 57,579,165

-2%

12%

267,104

0.4%

100% 64,529,100

100%

18 12,356,000

Difference

56

Loans’ amounts- based on
product

Micro with full subsidiary approvals for small investors amounted to RO 13.2 million, representing
20% of the total value of loans approved by the Bank. While the value of approved loans for large
projects increased to RO 17.15 million or 26.6%. The value of working capital loans amounted to RO
14.9 million, representing 23% of the total until December 2018.
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Third: The performance of the lending portfolio

Amounts in

Outstanding

RO. Million

Pastdues

Pastdues%

153.51

9.79

6.38%

140

10.19

7.28%

+9.66%

-3.93%

-12.39%

balances

The portfolio as in
December 2018
The portfolio as at the
end of 2017
The percentage of
growth or change

The Bank's lending portfolio stood at RO
153.2 million in December 2018 compared to
RO 140 million at the end of 2017, an increase
of RO 13.2 million (+ 9.66%).
The outstanding balances of the branches
amounted to RO 96.04 million, representing
63% of the total outstanding balances at the
end of December 2018.

Portfolio as in December 2018

Corporate Branch

Branches

Total

57,468,944

96,042,293

153,511,237

4,178,656

5,613,148

9,791,804

Outstanding
Pastdues

The pastdues performance index also
showed a decline in the value of pastdues,
with pastdues falling to RO 9.79 million in
December 2018 from RO 10.19 million at the
end of 2017.

The ratio of Pastdues (Total pastdues / Total
balance outstanding) declined to 6.38%
compared to the end of last year.

Pastdues Index
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Strategic Initiatives of 2018
2- 2018 Institutional Development Projects
2-1: The Corporate strategy:
Since Oman Development Bank launched its Corporate Strategy in December 2017, it has started
implementing the related projects and strategic initatives since the beginning of this year. The
strategy of the Bank aims to redefine the Bank’s business model and framework both radically and
comprehensive. This step will foster the Bank's capabilities to meet its targets to align with the business
models of international development institutions and guaranteeing the Bank’s sustainability.
The Bank Corporate strategy goals are as follows:
1. Supporting the SMEs growth in all stages by providing a wide range of products and services.
2. Consolidating a partnership concept with the Bank’s customers by increasing support of big
projects as well as partnership projects.
3. Achieving exponential growth in the lending portfolio by increasing the level of resourse
indepentment, which can be achieved by increasing the Bank’s sources of funding and diversifying
its sources of income.
4. Ensuring financial sustainability and minimizing the Bank’s dependence on Government subsidy.
5. Providing technical and advisory support to the Bank’s customers by establishing knowledge bank.

On the operational initiatives level, the Bank’s executive teams have started working on the following
projects:
1. Developing new products
- Micro-finance loans.
- Current accounts and saving accounts.
2.

Refining and unifying daily operations.
- Updating the loans’ competencies regulations.

3.

Maximize the Bank’s revenues and income.
- Updating the list of the Bank’s fees and commissions.

4. Updating the IT infrastructure and reinforcing the usage of new technologies.
- Evaluating the efficiency and security of the current Bank’s core system.
- Updating the Bank’s website and social media channels.
2-2 IT Development:
As per the corporate strategy, several of projects have been completed such as: updating the
data-base and information management systems, smart operational reports, as well as the business
intelligence platform project. In addition to projects for correspondence management system (CMS),
archiving documents, meetings management system, and in general, developing other electronic
services in order to automate the Bank’s operations.
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2-3 Bank’s Marketing and Promoting Services
In the context of the Bank marketing and promotion program, the Bank has focused on participating
in seminars, workshops and specialized exhibitions, along with economic conferences. The Bank has
participated in numerous activities, which are:
•

Investment Opportunities seminar in Al Wusta Governorate.

•

The International Conference of the International Road Transport Union held in Muscat.

•

The Fishing and Seafood Festival in Masirah.

•

Organizing specialized seminars in various regions of the Sultanate as part of the Proficiency
Competition (IJADA).

As well as direction and participation in a number of projects in the industrial area all over the
Sultanate. The aim of this step is the promotion of the Bank’s facilities and services provided for the
SMEs.
2-4 Relocate and Renovation of Branches and Regional Offices:
As part of the strategy to update the Bank's visual identity in line with the nature of its business, the
renovation of the Head Office has commenced and will be completed in the next year. Moreover, the
Duqum Branch has already opened its doors for operations.
2-5 Training Programs:
A number of specialized training programs have been implemented inside and outside the Sultanate,
namely on-the-job training and group training programs for some of the Bank's specializations.
3- 2019 Institutional Development Projects
3-1 The Corporate Strategy:
In the framework of the development plan, more specifically to work on the implementation of the
corporate strategy, the Bank will give priority to the stratgic initiatives in line with the execution of
the strategy; that is achived through, the Bank will continue funding the projects with high added
value in the various development sectors, including but not limited to funding projects in industrial
and trade zones (for example, the Economic Zone of Duqm and other industrial zones). The Bank
also undertakes the prioritization to fund qualified sectors so as to contribute in the diversification
of national sources of income in the ninth five-year plan, namely, the fisheries, tourism, logistics,
manufacturing and mining sectors.
Strategic Initiatives Relative to Regulatory Aspects within 2018/2019’s Budget:
Developing the Risk Management and other regulatory deparments such as audit and compliance
is one of the requirements of the new corporate strategy approved by the Board of Directors, and is
planned to cover the following projects/ aspects:
Risks Management Culture
•

The board of directors and the executive board have taken the lead to publicize Risk Management
culture and encourage its practice.

•

Spreading Risk Management culture among employees and involving them in training sessions.

•

Increasing specialized training sessions in Risk Management for all employees in the bank.
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Laws and Regulations:
Updating the Risk Management framework which are, applicable in the Bank, in line with the new
regulations issued by the Central Bank of Oman, and keeping in compliance with the new corporate
strategy. This includes:
•

Updating the general Risk Management framework.

•

Establishing a system to identify the lending limit, for borrowers/ branches/ products/ economic
sectors based on risk classification and the limits of total exposure, as per the different risk
classification categories in line with the Risk Management adopted by the Bank's policy and the
extent of its ability to withstand such risks. Furthermore, there must be a link with the credit
risk assessment system when granting a loan or when reviewing the classification of any loan
afterwards.

•

Identifying the points of convergence and the interaction lines between risk management/
auditing/ commitment, and establishing clear working guidelines

•

Identifying the role of Risk Management in credit operation and its effectiveness and relationship
with the main and supporting divisions, in line with the new and updated regulatory structure.

•

Paying special attention to risks the Bank might face such as credit risks and operations risks.

•

Framing the risk record and establishing a timeline for execution.

•

Considering the best applications of the Risk Management regulatory structure in the Bank and
identifying the division’s representatives in the branches and in other departments.

•

Updating the charter of the Risk Committee.

•

Updating the credit policy in the Bank.

•

Updating the Authority Matrix

•

Assessing the workflow of all the Bank’s departments and classifying them in order to clarify any
types of operational risk, relative to the new strategic plan and organization structure.

•

Assessing the authority of each department and branch and its impact on the operational risk.

•

Updating the business continuity plan (BCP) and applying the best related practices.

3-2 IT Development:
As part of the plan to implement the Bank's new strategy for 2018-2022 for rapid technological
development in the field of Information Technology, the cost of purchasing systems and assistive
devices has been included in the budget in order to update automation system for the Bank’s
workflow and operations and provide internal electronic services to enable the Bank’s branches to
deliver products faster and more accurately. Additionally, the Bank will be updating the main banking
system by adding some features that will help the Bank to provide improved services to customers.
The Bank will also be applying and implementing systems to manage and follow-up assets in order
to reduce risk as well as applying new features in its Human Resource systems. The Bank will also be
introducing new e-services that will enable customers to pay and communicate with the Bank online.
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3-3 Marketing and Promoting the Bank’s Services
The Bank’s Marketing and Promotion plan targets small, medium and large enterprises, in order to
implement the Bank’s new corporate strategy and due to the significance of these enterprises in
providing job opportunities and enhancing the national economy and economic diversity. Moreover,
the Bank is aiming to focus on SMEs in order to establish a balanced portfolio during the upcoming
five years.
The Bank will be providing special attention to marketing its micro-finance loans in various media
channels such as social media channels and local radio channels in order to target a wide range of the
audience. There will also be a focus on promoting the Bank’s products and services developmental
loans sector, mega-projects loans, and working capital loans, especially those within promising
sectors such as Tourism, Education, and Health and Industry. This will be done through different
promotion channels as appropriate to each product such as advertisements in cinema viewings,
petrol station screens and the advertisements in Oman Air’s screens, which have lately proven to be
highly effective.
The Bank will continue holding seminars, workshops and exhibitions all over the Sultanate. The most
important activity in the next year’s schedule is the Bank’s hosting of the annual meeting for the
Association of Development Financing Institutions in Asia and the Pacific (ADFIAP).

3-4 Renovation and Restructuring of the Bank’s Head Office, Regional Offices and Branches
The Bank will be completely renovating and restructuring its offices all over the Sultanate in line
with its efforts to modernize its offices and branches and to keep up to date with the practices in the
banking sector as well as to create an attractive banking environment that is in line with the Bank's
corporate strategy.
3-5 Training Programs
With regards to the training budget, a number of specialized training programs will be implemented,
including training programs and on-job-training within the Sultanate and abroad. Furthermore, the
Bank will be providing group training programs for some of the specializations in the bank, along
with the professional, leadership, and programs.
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ODB Corporate Governance Report
For the Financial Year Ended on 31/12/2018
Introduction :
Oman Development Bank was established as a public joint stock company (SAOC) under the Royal
Decree No. (18/97) and the attached annex thereto. The Government owns its total capital in the bank.
On 11/3/2006, the Royal Decree No. 18/2006 was issued, which has stated the amendments of some
of the provisions of the Royal Decree referred to above, whereby the Bank was transferred from a
public shareholding company to a closed shareholding company (SAOC). The amendments resulted
in excepting the Bank from being subject to CMA’s Circular No. (16/2003) issued on 30/7/2003, and
the guiding statute of public shareholding companies. However, the provisions of the Bank's Articles
of Association are matching with the provisions of the guiding statue referred to above.
The Bank is also subject to the Commercial Companies’ Law No. 4/74 and its amendments, which
gave the Ministry of Commerce and Industry the control and supervision of organizing the work of
closed joint stock companies, except some provisions governing the activities of those companies.
All procedures related to the application of the principles of corporate governance were also taken
into consideration in the preparation of this report, along with its consistency with the Corporate
Governance Charter of the Public Shareholding Companies, issued in July 2015.
The Bank's organization and management report reflects the Bank's implementation of the provisions
of the above-mentioned Charter, and the procedures described in the report are not considered as
an audit or review in accordance with international auditing standards.
This report has been prepared pursuant to Articles 27 & 26 of the above-mentioned Charter, which
requires that the Board of Directors shall add a separate chapter in its annual report of organizing
and managing the joint stock company.
In light of the above- mentioned, the report of organizing and managing Oman Development Bank
(SAOC) for the fiscal year ended on 31/12/2018 has been prepared.

First: The foundations and rules of the organization and management in the bank:
The Bank is committed to implement the rules and regulations of organizing and managing the
companies ( corporate governance), issued by the Central Bank of Oman under Circular No. 932, on
February 4, 2002, concerning the governance of banking and financial institutions and the circular
issued by the Capital Market Authority No. (7 / 2015) in this regard, in a manner consistent with the
Royal Decree No. (18/97) concerning the establishment of the bank and amended by the Royal
Decree No. (18/2006) and the accompanying annex thereto.
The Bank is adopting good practices in organization and management, and it is working on preparing
and developing the regulations for the next phase. The following are the outstanding features of the
Bank's governance and management rules:
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1. The role and responsibilities of the Board of Directors:
Setting the rules and regulations governing the work of the bank and directing and accounting the
management on the bank’s performance, the role of the Board in details is as follows:
•

Adopting the financial and banking policies.

•

Adopting the estimated budget of the Bank.

•

Supervising the Bank's main activities.

•

Monitoring the performance of the executive management, to ensure that the bank’s work is
functioning properly, in order to achieve the objectives of the bank.

•

Adopting the principles of the charter of Good Professional behavior at the Bank.

•

Adopting and implementing the disclosure policy and monitoring its compliance with the
regulatory requirements.

•

Reviewing the significant transactions with the related parties, that are not normal transactions.

•

Nominate the members of the subsidiary board committees and define their roles, responsibilities
and powers.

•

Appointing the Chief Executive / General Manager and the senior executive and technical officers,
and defining their roles, responsibilities, competencies and rewards.

•

Evaluate the functions and responsibilities of the subcommittees, the CEO and the senior officers
in the Bank.

•

Adoption of annual and interim financial statements.

•

Informing the Government of the Bank's status through the annual report and providing advice
on any matter that might raise the level of the bank’s work.

•

Adopting internal regulations and systems, that are governing the bank’s activities and the affairs
of its employees.

2. The role and responsibilities of the executive management of the Bank:
•

Managing the Bank's affairs according to the policies and strategy approved by the Board of
Directors.

•

Assisting the Board in designing and formulating the policies.

•

Applying the laws, regulations and circulars that govern the Bank’s work.

•

Applying the policies and regulations approved by the Board of Directors.

•

Preparing detailed and procedural programs to implement the approved policies.

•

Preparing the contracts of the projects according to the work’s requirements.

•

Preparing of the project of the balance sheet.

•

Preparing a report on the Bank's activity during the previous financial year.

•

Committing to the principles of the Charter and the system of the professional behavior.

•

having the responsibility of reporting full and true data on the Bank's activities to the Board of
Directors.
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3. Procedures and systems of internal control:
•

The Board of Directors formed an Audit Committee consisting of three members of the Board of
Directors. This committee oversees the functions of the Internal Audit Department and verifies
the compatibility of these functions with the rules and regulations of the regulatory bodies such
as the Financial and Administrative Control Authority of the State, the Central Bank of Oman and
the Capital Market Authority, as well as being compatible with internationally approved auditing
systems, policies and standards.

•

The Bank follows the utmost diligence and applies the principle of security in its financial
transactions where no transaction of the bank transactions is signed by one person alone but
must be signed by at least two persons. Moreover, there are safe procedures acceptable to the
computer’s operations and programs. In general, the administrative controls in the bank are
good and practical.

•

The Compliance of the commitment control regulation has been adopted and is currently in effect.

Second: The Board of Directors:
The Bank is managed by a Board of Directors consisting of a Chairman and four members representing
the Ministry of Finance, Commerce and Industry, Agriculture and Fisheries, as well as two independent
members of the competent and experienced candidates, nominated by the General Assembly of
the Bank, in accordance with the provisions of the Royal Decree No. (18/97) of establishing Oman
Development Bank, and its amendments.
Third: Audit Committee:
•

The committee includes three members of the Board of Directors.

•

The Charter of the Committee was adopted by the Board of Directors on 16/6/2003 under the
Board of Directors Resolution No. (17/2003) which has been amended by the Board of Directors
Resolution No. (22/2010), issued on 10/1/2010.

•

The main objective of the Audit Committee is to provide assistance to the Bank’s Board of Directors
in the performance of its supervisory duties and to discharge its responsibilities according to the
following:

1. Ensuring the Bank’s commitment to the applicable laws and regulations and that it is applying the
principles of professional ethics, set by the Bank.
2. The role of the Audit Committee is a regulatory and supervisory role. The Committee is responsible
for maintaining an effective professional relationship between the Board of Directors, the
Executive Management, internal and external auditors.
3. Enhancing the communication with the external auditors by working effectively with them and
ensuring that they carry out their duties professionally and independently without any influences
from any entity in the bank.
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Details of the Audit Committee’s members’ attendance in the meetings during 2018:

Meeting No.

Date

Mr. Abdul Al
Salam bin Nassir
Al Kharousi

Eng. Nahla bint
Abdul Al Wahab Al
Hamdiya

Mr. Ali bin
Mohammed bin
Jumaa‘ Al Lawati

First

24/01/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Second

19/03/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Third

25/07/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Fourth

18/10/2018

Attended

Attended

Not Attended

Fourth: Risks Committee:
The main objective of the Risk Committee is to implement the circulars and guidelines of the Central
Bank of Oman, which requires the appointment an authority derived from the board of directors,
to ensure that all internal regulations, adopted by the Board of Directors, are applied, in terms of
identifying, measuring and monitoring the various types of risks, that may have an impact on the
Bank.
The main tasks and responsibilities assigned to this Committee are as follows:
•

Understanding the extent and magnitude of the risks facing the Bank and ensure that it is properly
managed.

•

Developing risk management policies, in the light of the Bank's ability to withstand these risks.

•

Reviewing the types of potential risks, in the light of the evolution of the banking system and
identifying the risks and reviewing the policies and the procedures’ feasibility, to protect the
interests of the bank.

•

Ensuring that risk management policies include all quantitative elements in the Bank’s various
operations, and in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.

•

Studying and evaluating the changes in the market, that may have an impact on the Bank's
position.

•

Monitoring the adherence to the risk measures across the bank’s operations.

•

Assigning the executive management in the bank to follow the risks, that fall within the scope of
its responsibilities and providing studies and proposals on this.

•

Overseeing the implementation of the policies and the Central Bank of Oman’s recommendations,
within the same framework.

•

Adopting the loans’ allocations raised from the risk management.

•

Supervising the bank's compliance function.

•

Supervising of loan review function (LRM)

•

Overseeing the Bank's full implementation of the anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism
related issues.
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•

Overseeing the implementation of the business continuity plan during disasters.

•

The Committee shall submit to the board of directors a copy of all the minutes of its meetings
regularly, to inform it, and shall discuss with the Boards the issues that require discussion.

The committee includes three members of the board of directors.
Details of the attendance of the members of the Risk Committee for the Meetings during 2018:

Meeting No.

Date

Mr. Ali bin
Mohammed bin
Jumaa‘ Al Lawati

Mr. Saleh bin
Mohammed bin
Saleh Al Abri

Miss. Zayana bint
Mohammed bin
Khamis Al Rashdi

First

15/03/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Second

23/04/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Third

30/07/2018

Attended

Attended

Not Attended

Fourth

17/09/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Fifth: The restructuring committee:
A committee derived from the Board of Directors has been formed by virtue of Resolution No. (A:
65/2018) entitled "Restructuring Committee", which includes four members of the Board of Directors.
The Committee shall undertake the following tasks:
1. Supervising the completion of the housing process.
2. Studying the necessary budget to complete the housing process according to the current grades
and seminars and submit the recommending to the Board of Directors for approval.
3. Studying the new grade scale and submitting the recommending to the Board of Directors, with
a statement of the total financial impact on the financial position of the Bank when settling the
new scale.
4. Approving the review of the final draft of the new Human Resources Regulations and submitting
the recommendations, thereon, to the Board of Directors as a final draft for approval.
5. Supervising the selection of qualified persons applying for leadership positions that have not
yet taken place in the organizational structure and selecting the competencies both inside and
outside the bank.
6. Considering the employees’ grievances resulting from the structuring process.
7. Any other subjects assigned by the Board.
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Details of the attendance of the members of the Re-structuring Committee for the Meetings during
2018:
Eng. Nahla bint
Eng. Hilal bin
Abdul Al Wahab Al
Hamad Al Busaidi
Hamdiya

Mr. Ali bin
Mohammed bin
Jumaa’ Al Lawati

Eng. Saleh bin
Mohammed Al
Abri

Not Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Not Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Not Attended

Attended

Meeting
No.

Date

First

30/07/2018

Attended

Second

17/9/2018

Third

15/10/2018

Sixth: Financial allocations:
The following amounts were disbursed during the year 2018 to the members of the Board of Directors:

The Meeting
Board of Directors’ meetings

The disbursed amount
RO. 16,400

The Audit Committee’s meetings

RO. 2,750

The Risks Committee’s meetings

RO. 2,750

The Re-structuring committee’s meetings

RO. 2,250

Total Amount

RO. 24,150

1. The allowances and bonuses paid and proposed to the Board of Directors within the limits of the
Commercial Companies Law No. (4/74) and its amendments, specifically the amendments issued
by the Royal Decree No. (99/2005) dated 28/11/2005.
2. The highest salaries, allowances and privileges of five senior employees of the Bank during the
year 2018 have reached (RO. 482,999).
Seventh: Board of Directors:
The Board of Directors consists of a Chairman and four members representing the governmental
entities, as defined by the Supreme Royal Decree, stating the establishment of the Bank. Those
members shall have a membership in the formation of the Board along with two independent
members with expertise (all members of the Board are highly qualified and experienced).
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A list of the boards’ members is as follows:

Members representing the
governmental entities

Mr. Abdul Al Salam bin Nassir bin Abdullah Al
Kharousi
Deputy Chairman of the Board
Representative of the Ministry of Finance

Eng. Nahla bint Abdul Al Wahab bin Ahmed Al
Hamdi
Board Member
Representative of the Ministry of Commerce
and Industry

Eng. Saleh bin Mohammed bin Saleh Al Abri
Board Member
Repreentative of the Ministry of Agriculture and
Fisheries

Miss. Zayana bint Mohammed Al Rashdi
Board Member
Representative of the Ministry of Finance
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Independent members

Eng. Hilal bin Hamad bin Saif Al Busaidi
Board Member

Mr. Ali bin Mohammed bin Jumaa’ Al Lawati
Board Member
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Details of the attendance of the members of the Board of Directors for the meetings during the year
2018:
Mr. Abdul Al
Meeting No. Salam bin
and Date
Nassir Al
Kharousi

Eng. Nahla
bint Abdul
Al Wahab
bin Ahmed
Al Hamdi

Eng.
Miss.
Saleh bin
Zayana bint
Mohammed
Mohammed
bin Saleh Al
Al Rashdi
Abri

Mr. Hilal
bin Hamad
bin Saif Al
Busaidi

Mr. Ali bin
Mohammed
bin Jumaa’
Al Lawati

First
28/01/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Second
26/03/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Not
Attended

Attended

Third
24/04/2018

Attended

Not
Attended

Attended

Attended

Not
Attended

Attended

Fourth
31/04/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Not
Attended

Attended

Fifth
01/08/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Not
Attended

Attended

Attended

Sixth
01/11/2018

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Attended

Eighth: Regulations and sanctions imposed:
During the past year (2018), the Bank has complied with all organizational and regulatory
requirements (the State Financial and Administrative Control Agency, the Central Bank of Oman and
the Capital Market Authority). The Board of Directors is keen to direct the Bank's board, to address the
comments received from the aforementioned regulatory authorities continuously. These directives
are continuously updated by the Board of Directors and the Internal Audit and Risk Committees
through regular follow-up reports prepared for this purpose. The Board is kept informed of the steps
taken to ensure that the observations and irregularities reported in these reports are solved.
Ninth: Means of communication with shareholders (government) and other concerned authorities:
The results and financial statements of the Bank are also published in two main newspapers in Arabic
and English. Moreover, Periodic results are also sent via electronic means to the Capital Market
Authority.
Tenth: The bank’s auditors during the year 2018:
About Deloitte:
The name "Deloitte" is used to denote one or more companies licensed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Limited, a global group of licensed member companies and associated entities, the latter and each of
the licensed companies having their own independent legal personality.
Deloitte is a global leader in auditing, reviewing, management and financial consulting, risks consulting,
taxations and related services. It provides services to four out of five companies on Fortune global
magazine of top-500 companies, thanks to an interconnected global network from the authorized
member companies from more than 150 countries.
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About Deloitte & Touche (Middle East):
Deloitte & Touche (Middle East) is a member company licensed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Ltd.,
one of the leading professional consultancy services provider, that has been established in the Middle
East and has been active in the region since 1926. The presence of Deloitte & Touche (Middle East)
in the Middle East is established through companies licensed by it to provide services, in accordance
with the laws and decrees of the country of which it has an independent legal personality. Companies
and entities licensed by Deloitte cannot oblige each other and / or oblige Deloitte & Touche (Middle
East). When providing services, each licensed company or entity licensed by Deloitte & Touche
(the Middle East) contracts independently with its own customers (without reference to Deloitte &
Touche (Middle East) and these companies and entities are solely responsible for their actions or
shortcomings.
The Legal Advisor to the Board of Directors
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Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of Oman Development
Bank SAOC
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Oman Development Bank SAOC (“the Bank”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies set out on pages 51 to 111.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the Bank’s financial statements in Sultanate of Oman, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other matter
The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2017 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 26 March 2018.
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the Board is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risk, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

•
Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidenced obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosure are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a
going concern.
•
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Further, we report that the financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the relevant
disclosure requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of 1974, as amended.
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Statement of financial position at 31 December 2018
											2018		
									Note		

2017

RO		

RO

Assets 		
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman				

1,912,730

1,076,789

Balances with banks							5

42,794,113

33,390,405

Loans and advances to customers					

6

139,147,811

125,357,653

Investments							

7

16,572,480

19,086,437

Staff housing loans							

8

1,309,691

1,294,116

Receivable from Government					

9

3,811,347

1,920,564

Property and equipment						10

1,122,776

1,195,883

11

1,803,036

1,628,585

							208,473,984

184,950,432

Prepayments and other receivables				
Total assets		

Liabilities and shareholders' equity			
Liabilities

		

Customer deposits (Izdihar)						

12

500,993

539,192

Payable to Government						

13

182,278

138,851

Payables and accruals						14

7,542,843

5,871,782

Borrowings								15

38,654,216

19,345,986

Total liabilities								

46,880,330

25,895,811

Share capital								17

100,000,000

100,000,000

18

7,235,145

6,989,427

672,533

954,602

Special reserve							20

5,541,048

5,541,048

Impairment reserve							21

776,057

-

Retained earnings								

47,368,871

45,569,544

Total shareholders' equity							

161,593,654

159,054,621

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity				

208,473,984

184,950,432

Shareholders' equity

		

Legal reserve								

Investment revaluation reserve						

Net assets value per share					

30

1.616

1.591

Commitments and contingencies

29

22,408,914

18,151,926

		

________________________________________		

______________________________________________

Abdul Salam Bin Naser Al-Khrousi 		

Dr. Abdulaziz Bin Mohammed Al Hinai

Chairman						

Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2018
											2018		
									Note		

2017

RO

RO

Interest income							22

9,904,764

8,130,912

Interest expense								

(455,253)

(158,637)

Net interest income							

9,449,511

7,972,275

Fees, commission and other income				

23

2,812,024

2,777,768

Investment loss - net						

24

(349,997)

(118,778)

Net operating income							 11,911,538

10,631,265

General and administrative expenses				

(8,585,269)

(8,025,494)

allowance for customer relationship account				

3,326,269

2,605,771

Impairment for credit losses					

6

(828,583)

(1,377,468)

Impairment charge for customer relationship accounts

11

(40,504)

(3,175)

2,457,182

1,225,128

			

25

Operating profit before loan impairment charges and

Net profit for the year							
Other comprehensive income			
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:			
Change in fair value of investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income /available for sale 			

7

Total comprehensive income for the year				
Basic and diluted earnings per share				

(282,069)		
2,175,113

33

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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0.025		

(94,225)
1,130,903
0.012

earnings

Retained

100,000,000

-		

Changes in fair value of investments

-		
-		

Transfer to legal reserve (Note 18)

Dividend (Note 19)			

245,718
-		
7,235,145

-		

Transfer to impairment reserve (Note 21) 		

At 31 December 2018			

-		

672,533

-		

5,541,048

-		

-		

(282,069)
-		

-		

-		

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

100,000,000

-		

-		 -		 (282,069)

Total comprehensive income

Transfer to legal reserve (Note 18)

-		

-		

Changes in fair value of investments

-		

-		

-		

-		

Profit for the year 			

-		

-		

5,541,048

-		

-		

-		

-		

-		

5,541,048

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 (Note 2.3)

954,602

-		

-		

(94,225)

(94,225)

-		

1,048,827

100,000,000

6,989,427

-		

122,513

-		

-		

-		

6,866,914

At 1 January 2018			

							

-		

Total comprehensive income		

							

-		

Profit for the year 			

							

At 1 January 2017			

2,457,182

2,457,182

47,368,871

(776,057)		

776,057
776,057

(245,718)		

2,821,102

161,593,654

-

-

2,539,033

(282,069)

363,920

363,920
-

159,054,621

(6,924,150)

-

1,130,903

(94,225)

1,225,128

164,847,868

RO

Total

45,569,544

(6,924,150)

(122,513)

1,225,128

-

-

-		

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,225,128

51,391,079

-		

-

-

					RO		RO		RO		RO		RO		RO		

reserve

reserve

					capital		reserve

reserve

Special		Impairment

					Share 		Legal		revaluation

									Investment
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2018
											
2018
2017
											
RO
RO
Operating activities		
Net profit for the year									
2,457,182
1,225,128
Adjustments:		
Depreciation of property and equipment							
379,339
400,600
Exchange loss										
149,000
149,000
Interest expense										
455,253
158,637
Employees terminal benefits								
19,266
17,255
Impairment for credit losses								 828,583 		
1,377,468
Direct write-off of loans and advances							
486,673
Gain on disposal of property and equipment						
(17,630)
Realised investment income - net								
(729,855)
Premium amortised - Government development bonds					
114,435
Impairment provision for bonds and fixed deposits						
42,920
Change in fair value of held for trading investment						
965,417
Net movement in allowance for customer relationship accounts				
40,504
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities			
5,191,087
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans and advances to customers		
(14,741,492)
Staff housing loans									
(15,576)
Prepayments and other receivables							 (214,955)
Customer deposit (Izdihar) 								
(38,199)
Receivable from Government - net						
(1,847,358)
Payables and accruals									 1,651,795
Net cash used in operating activities						
(10,014,698)
		
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment							 (307,902)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment						
19,300
Placement of deposits - net							
(13,000,000)
Realised investment income – net								
729,855
Net purchases of held for trading investments						
(353,885)
Balances with investment managers							
Government development bonds – mature							
2,000,000
Non-Government Bonds purchased
						
(500,000)
Net cash used in investing activities
(11,412,632)
Financing activities		
Borrowings
								
19,101,000
Interest paid										 (397,021)
Net cash generated from financing activities				
18,703,979
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		
(2,723,351)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year				
12,417,194
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year					
9,693,843
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:		
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman						
1,912,730
Capital Deposit with Central Bank of Oman							
(50,000)
Balances with banks (note 5)							
7,831,113
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year					
9,693,843
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1,489
(7,573)
(920,182)
147,573
891,387
3,175
3,443,957
(12,921,804)
(133,896)
(198,415)
(49,738)
(1,346,105)
1,125,568
(10,080,433)

(336,712)
8,625
(19,000,000)
920,182
338,097
5,000,000
(13,069,808)
19,101,000
(62,651)
19,038,349
(4,111,892)
16,529,086
12,417,194
1,076,789
(50,000)
11,390,405
12,417,194
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
1.

Legal status and principal activities

Oman Development Bank SAOC (the Bank) was established under the Royal Decree Number 18/97,
as a joint stock company on 9 April 1997. The Bank operates in Oman under a banking license issued
by the Central Bank of Oman (CBO). The Bank has 18 (2016 - 18) branches within the Sultanate of
Oman. The registered address of the Bank is P.O. Box 3077, Ruwi, Postal Code 112, Sultanate of
Oman. The Bank is 100% owned by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman.
The Bank is principally engaged in providing loans to development projects, primarily involved in the
activities of agriculture, fisheries, livestock, industrial resources, information technology, educational
colleges, health, tourism, professional activities, workshops and traditional industrial craftsmanship
in the Sultanate of Oman. The Banks achieves its objective by granting loans, administering grants and
subsidies, participating in share capital to companies registered under the Commercial Companies
Law of Oman and other enterprises, and carrying out other banking activities. In accordance with its
objectives, interest on loans and advances is charged to the customers at a rate which is subsidized
by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. In addition the Bank also acts as agent on behalf of the
Government of Sultanate of Oman in respect of:
•

the distribution and collection of Government soft loans;

•

the disbursement of amounts from the Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund; and

•

the disbursement and collection of Al RAFAD Fund (SANAD Fund) Loans.

Under the Royal Decree establishing the Bank, the Government of the Sultanate of Oman guarantees
its borrowings of up to four times the capital and general reserves of the Bank.
Royal Decree No. 18/2006 was issued in the year 2006 by which new avenues were opened for the
Bank in terms of financial lending limits, allowing the bank to sanction soft loans up to One million
Rials Omani for a single project at a stipulated interest rate of 3% per year. The maximum limit of
soft loans can be Three million Rials Omani to Joint Stock Companies that have offered 40% of their
shares for public subscription.
The new Royal Decree also allows the bank to provide non-subsidised working capital loans to new
and existing projects.
Further, all the soft loans which were earlier handled by the Financial Support Committee of the
Ministry of Commerce and Industry have been delegated to Oman Development Bank SAOC.

55

Annual Report 2018

2.

Adoption of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRS)

2.1

New and revised IFRSs that are effective for the current year

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 2018, have been adopted in these financial statements.
The Bank applies, for the first time, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in July 2014) and the
related consequential amendments to other IFRS Standards that are effective for an annual period
that begins on or after 1 January 2018. The impact of the initial application of these standards is
disclosed in Note 2.3 to these financial statements.
The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018, have been adopted in these financial statements. The application of these
revised IFRSs has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in
these financial statements.
New and revised IFRS
Annual
Improvements
to
Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycle

Summary
IFRS The Bank has adopted the amendments to IAS 28 included
in the Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016
Cycle for the first time in the current year

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with IFRS 15 provides a principles-based approach for revenue
recognition and introduces the concept of recognising
customers
revenue for performance obligations as they are satisfied.
The Bank has assessed the impact of IFRS 15 and concluded
that the standard has no material effect, on the financial
statements of the Bank.
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions IFRIC 22 addresses how to determine the ‘date of
transaction' for the purpose of determining the exchange
and Advance Consideration
rate to use on initial recognition of an asset, expense or
income, when consideration for that item has been paid or
received in advance in a foreign currency which resulted in
the recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability (for example, a non-refundable deposit or deferred
revenue).
The Interpretation specifies that the date of transaction
is the date on which the entity initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from
the payment or receipt of advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Interpretation
requires an entity to determine the date of transaction for
each payment or receipt of advance consideration.
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2.2

New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective

The Bank has not yet applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:
New and revised IFRSs							

Effective for annual periods

										

beginning on or after

IFRS 16 Leases								

1 January 2019

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle amending IFRS 3

1 January 2019

Business Combinations, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IAS 12
Income Taxes and IAS 23 Borrowing costs.
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments			

1 January 2019

Amendments in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments relating to			

1 January 2019

prepayment features with negative compensation.
Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits relating to amendment,

1 January 2019

curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan
Amendments in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

1 January 2019

relating to long-term interests in associates and joint ventures.
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS

1 January 2020

Standards - amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 1, IAS
8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and
SIC-32 to update those pronouncements with regard to references
to and quotes from the framework or to indicate where they refer
to a different version of the Conceptual Framework
Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations relating to definition

1 January 2020

of a business
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 relating to definition of material

1 January 2020

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts							

1 January 2021

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (2011) relating to the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from and investor
to its associate or joint venture.
Effective date deferred indefinitely. Adoption is still permitted.
The management anticipates that these new standards, interpretations and amendments will be
adopted in the Banks’s financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these
new standards may have no material impact on the financial statements of the Bank in the period of
initial application.
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2. 3

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Bank has adopted IFRS 9, as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 January
2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts previously
recognised in the financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition, classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9
also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7 ‘Financial
Instruments: Disclosures’.
Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL). IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is
managed and its contractual cash flows. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of
held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sale.
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities.
However, although under IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated under the fair value
option were recognised in the income statement, under IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally
presented as follows:
•

The amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the
liability is presented in OCI; and

•

The remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in the profit of loss.

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with an 'expected credit loss' model. The new
impairment model also applies to certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts but
not to equity investments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39.
The Bank applies three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets
carried at amortised cost and debt instruments classified as FVOCI. Assets migrate through the
following three stages based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.
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2. 3

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Stage 1: 12 months ECL - not credit impaired
Stage 1 includes financial assets on initial recognition and that do not have a significant increase in
credit risk since the initial recognition or that have low credit risk. For these assets, ECL are recognised
on the gross carrying amount of the asset based on the expected credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Interest is computed on
the gross carrying amount of the asset.
Stage 2: Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired
Stage 2 includes financial assets that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that do not have objective evidence of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECL are
recognised, but interest is still calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Lifetime ECL are
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the
financial instrument.
Stage 3: Lifetime ECL - credit impaired
Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.
Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively,
except as described below.
(a)

Comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retained
earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017
does not reflect the requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable to the information
presented for 2018 under IFRS 9.

(b)

The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that
existed at the date of initial application.

•

The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held;

•

The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at FVOCI;
and

•

If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Bank
has assumed that credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial
recognition.
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2. 3

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Impact of adopting IFRS 9
The impact of adopting IFRS 9 has been shown as below:				

Investment

									Retained		

revaluation

									earnings		reserve
									RO			RO
Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 December 2017)		

45,569,544		

954,602

Impact of recognition of expect credit losses (ECL):		
Investment at fair value through other comprehensive income -			

-

Loans and Advances (including loan commitments)		

363,920		

-

Revised opening balances 						

45,933,464		

954,602

Expected credit loss for other debt instruments and bank deposits balances as at 1 January 2018 was
insignificant and charged to profit or loss during the current year.
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
The Bank performed a detailed analysis of its business models for managing financial assets as well
as analysing their cash flow characteristics. The below table reconciles the original measurement
categories and carrying amounts of financial assets in accordance with IAS 39 and the new
measurement categories under IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018:
				

IAS 39		

					

IFRS 9		

Measurement

						

category

IAS 39

Impact of IFRS 9

Carrying

Reclassifi- Remeasure- Carrying

amount

cations *

									RO		RO
Financial assets		

IFRS 9

ments *
RO

amount
RO

				

Cash and Balances with Central Banks

AC (L&R) (1)

AC (2)		

1,076,789

-

-

1,076,789

Balances with Banks			

AC (L&R) (1)

AC (2)		

33,390,405

-

-

33,390,405

Loans and Advances to Customers

AC (L&R) (1)

AC (2)		

125,357,653

-

Investment Securities - debt		

HTM (3)		

AC (2)		

12,255,291

-

-

12,255,291

Investment Securities - equity		

AFS (4)		

FVOCI (5)

1,702,718

-

-

1,702,718

Investment Securities - equity		

FVPL (HFT) (6)

FVPL (7)		

5,128,428

-

-

5,128,428
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Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 (continued)
(1)

Amortised cost (loans and receivables)

(2)

Amortised cost

(3)

Held to maturity

(4)

Available-for-Sale

(5)

Fair value through other comprehensive income

(6)

Fair value through profit or loss (held-for-trading)

(7)

Fair value through profit or loss

* Re-measurements are related to ECL adjustments, while reclassifications include adjustments for
changes in the basis of measurement.
Financial liabilities
There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities.
3

Summary of significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Bank at 31 December 2018 have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), the disclosure requirements and the applicable regulations of the Commercial
Companies Law of 1974, as amended.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Statement of compliance (continued)
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for held-for-trading
investments, available-for-sale investments and staff housing loans which are measured at fair value.
The statement of financial position is presented in the order of liquidity as this presentation is more
appropriate to the Bank’s operations.
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Rials Omani (RO), which is the functional currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Bank operates.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Rials Omani at the rates prevailing on the date
of the transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Rials
Omani at year end rates. Any gain or loss arising from changes in exchange rates subsequent to the
date of the transaction is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Financial assets and financial liabilities
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(i)

Recognition

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances to customers, due from / to banks, customer
deposits, debt securities and other borrowings on the date at which they are originated. All other
financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Bank becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
(ii)

Classification and initial measurement

Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, Fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or Fair value through profit or loss FVPL.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:
-

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

-

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
(ii)

Classification and initial measurement (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:
-

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

-

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
Business model assessment
The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which a financial asset is held
at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is
provided to management. The information considered includes:
-

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice;

-

How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management;

-

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed; and

-

The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its
expectations about future sales activity.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis are measured at FVPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor
held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
(ii)

Classification and initial measurement (continued)

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. 'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Bank considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Bank considers contingent
events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows, prepayment and extension terms,
terms that limit the Bank's claim to cash flows from specified assets and features that modify
consideration of the time value of money.
Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after
the Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets.
Financial liabilities
The Bank has classified and measured its financial liabilities at amortised cost.
(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets
The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or in which the Bank
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not
retain control of the financial asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or
the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset transferred), and consideration received
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in the income statement.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
(iii) Derecognition
From 1 January 2018, any cumulative gain / loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment
securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in the income statement on derecognition of such
securities.
The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial
position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or
a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets
are not derecognised.
In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues to recognise
the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed
to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
In certain transactions the Bank retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a
fee. The transferred asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is
recognised for the servicing contract, depending on whether the servicing fee is more than adequate
(asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.
Financial liabilities
The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled
or expire.
(iv) Modification of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Bank evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value.
If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different,
then the modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Bank
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises the amount arising from
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in the income statement. If such
a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is
presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
(iv)Modification of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities
The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognized in profit or loss.
(vii) Impairment
The Bank recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at FVPL:
-

Financial assets that are debt instruments; and

-

Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity instruments. Impairment and ECL are used interchangeably
throughout these financial statements.
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for
which they are measured as 12-month ECL:
-

Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date;
and

-

Other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their
initial recognition.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on financial instruments that are
possible with the 12 months after the reporting date.
Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
-

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive);

-

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
(vii) Impairment (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)
-

Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows 		
that the Bank expects to receive; and

-

Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any 		
amounts that the Bank expects to recover.

Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced
with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether
the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:
-

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 		
expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the
cash shortfalls from the existing asset; or

-

If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 		
expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing		
financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the 		
cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date		
of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the		
existing financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
-

Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

-

A breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

-

The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would			
not consider otherwise;

-

It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 			
reorganisation; or

-

The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
(viii) Investment Securities
The ‘investment securities’ include:
-

Debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at		
fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised		
cost using the effective interest method;

-

Debt and equity investment securities mandatorily measured at FVPL or designated			
as at FVPL; these are measured at fair value with fair value changes recognised			
immediately in the income statement;

-

Debt securities measured at FVOCI; and

-

Equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI.

For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following,
which are recognized in the profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost:
-

Interest revenue using the effective interest method; and

-

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) and reversals.

When a debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to income statement.
The Bank elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity. The
election is made on an instrument by instrument basis on initial recognition and is irrevocable.
Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to income statement and no
impairment is recognised in consolidated income statement. Dividends are recognised in profit or
loss, unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they
are recognised in OCI. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in OCI are transferred to retained
earnings on disposal of an investment.
Policy applicable before 1 January 2018
Financial assets
Classification, recognition and measurement
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held to maturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, has two sub categories namely financial assets
held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. Investments
typically bought with the intention to sell in the near future are classified as held for trading. For
investments designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the following criteria must be met:
•

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that			
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or		
losses on them on a different basis; or

•

the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or			
both which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in			
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or

•

the financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded			
derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no			
analysis, that it would not be separately recorded.

These investments are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are
remeasured at fair value. Fair value adjustments and realised gain and loss are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available-for-sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time and may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the
market conditions
The Bank has not designated any loans or receivables as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value - which is the cash consideration
to purchase the loan including any transaction costs. After initial measurement, available-for-sale
financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
Unrealised gains and losses are recognised directly in equity (other comprehensive income) in
the change in fair value of investments available-for-sale. When the investment is disposed of, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the profit or loss in other
operating income. Interest earned whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is reported
as interest income using the effective interest rate. Dividends earned whilst holding available-for-sale
financial investments are recognised in the profit or loss as other operating income when the right
of the payment has been established. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are
recognised in the profit or loss in impairment for investments and removed from the change in fair
value of investments available-for-sale.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to
originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest on loans is included in the statement
of comprehensive income and is reported as ‘interest income’. In the case of an impairment, the
impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity and which are not
designated at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale.
These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Interest on held to maturity investments is included in the statement of comprehensive income and
reported as ‘interest income’. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is been reported as a
deduction from the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as ‘impairment for investments’. Held to maturity investments are Government development
bonds.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the statement
of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts
and the Bank intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the
accounting standards or for gains and losses arising from a Bank of similar transactions.
Impairment of financial assets
Assets carried at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and
an impairment loss is incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group
of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the group about the
following loss events as well as considering the guidelines issued by the Central Bank of Oman:
•

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

•

a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

•

the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
•

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

•

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial			
difficulties; or

•

observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future		
cash flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, 		
although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in 			
the group, including adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group, 		
or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the		
group.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a
loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial
asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the
collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by
the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such
loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the
loss has been determined.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the Bank uses the criteria referred to at (a) above.
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
recognised in the profit or loss are not reversed through separate profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is
reversed through the profit or loss.
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:
•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

•

The Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’		
arrangement; and either:

-

The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

-

The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be
required to repay.
Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between
the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any difference between the initial amount
recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less provision for impairment.
Deposits
Deposits from customers are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Investment in equity and debt securities
The fair value of available-for-sale investments is based on quoted market prices at the financial
position date. For unquoted investments, the fair value approximates their carrying value.
The fair value of short term assets and liabilities are estimated to be equal to their carrying amounts.
The fair values of loans and advances approximates to the book value adjusted for provision against
impaired loans.
The fair value of staff housing loans has been determined by using discounted cash flow technique
using market rates currently offered for such facilities.
Balances with banks
These are stated at cost, less any amounts written off and provisions for impairment. Due from
banks include current accounts, call accounts and fixed deposits with the banks.
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Fair value measurement
A number of the Bank’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for
measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on a number of accounting policies and methods.
Where applicable, information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in
the notes specific to that asset or liability.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:
•

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

•

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
•

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 		
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

•

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 		
value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Bank determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
At each reporting date, the Bank analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which
are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Bank’s accounting policies. For this analysis,
the Bank verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the
valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.
The Bank also compares the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external
sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Bank has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy as explained above.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of preparing the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents comprises of highly
liquid assets which are readily convertible into known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Cash and cash equivalents comprise all balances with Central
Bank of Oman and deposits with banks and other financial institutions, except for balances held by
investment funds managers and short term deposits, with a maturity of three months or less from
the date of placement.
Staff housing loans
Staff housing loans are recoverable over periods of up to twenty years. A significant portion of the
loans is interest free while the others are charged at interest rates below the prevalent market rates
for such borrowings. The fair value of staff housing loans has been determined by using discounted
cash flow technique using market rates currently offered for such facilities.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are initially recognised at their cost being their purchase price plus any
other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for
them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
After initial recognition, the property and equipment are carried, in the statement of financial position,
at their cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. The depreciation
charge for each period is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Depreciation is
calculated on a straight line basis, which reflects the pattern in which the asset's future economic
benefits are expected to be consumed by the Bank over the estimated useful life of the assets as
follows:
										Years
Buildings									
25
Vehicles									5
Furniture and fixtures and office equipment				
4-5
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)
Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year-end,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in the circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication of
impairment exists, impairments losses are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.
On the subsequent derecognition (sale or retirement) of the property and equipment, the resultant
gain or loss, being the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount,
is included in the statement of comprehensive income.
Repairs and renewals are charged to the statement of comprehensive income when the expense is
incurred. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the item of property and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income as an expense as incurred.
Payables and accruals
Payables and accruals are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid for goods and services received, whether or not
billed to the Bank.
Provisions
Provisions are present obligations (legal or constructive) resulted from past events, the settlement
of the obligations is probable and the amount of those obligations can be estimated reliably. The
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the statement of financial position date, that is, the amount that the Bank would
rationally pay to settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date or to transfer it to a
third party.
Provisions reviewed and adjusted at each statement of financial position date. If outflows, to settle
the provisions, are no longer probable, reverse of the provision is recorded as income. Provisions are
only used for the purpose for which they were originally recognised.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration
received) net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
Employees' terminal benefit
End of service benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of employment of the Bank’s
employees at the reporting date, having regard to the requirements of the Oman Labour Law 2003
and its amendments. Employee entitlements to annual leave and leave passage are recognised when
they accrue to employees and an accrual is made for the estimated liability arising as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. These accruals are included in current
liabilities, while that relating to end of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability.
Contributions to Omani Government Social Security Scheme under Royal Decree No. 72/91 for Omani
employees in accordance with the Omani Social Insurance Law 1991 are recognised as an expense in
the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19, Employee benefits, management carries an exercise to
assess the present value of the Bank’s obligations as of reporting date, using the actuarial techniques,
in respect of employees’ end of service benefits payable under the Oman aforesaid Labour Law.
Under this method, an assessment is made of an employee’s expected service life with the Bank and
the expected basic salary at the date of leaving the service.
Equity instruments
Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on accrual
basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the rate applicable. If the recovery of the
interest income is doubtful, its recognition in the statement of comprehensive income is deferred
until it is received.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Commission and fees
Commission and fees are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income at the time of
effecting the transaction to which they relate.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established.
Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations depending on whether some uncertain future events
occur, or they are present obligations but payments are not probable or the amounts cannot be
measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements.
Fiduciary assets
Assets held by the Bank in its own name, but on the account of third parties and held on trust on
behalf of third parties, are not reported in the statement of financial position. Commissions received
from fiduciary activities are shown in fee and commission income.
Directors' remuneration
Directors' remuneration is calculated in accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of 1974, as
amended, of the Sultanate of Oman.
Dividend
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are
approved by the Bank’s members.
Operating leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
4

Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of financial assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the resultant provisions and changes in fair value for the year. Such estimates are necessarily
based on assumptions about factors involving varying, and possibly significant, degrees of judgment
and uncertainty and actual results may differ from management's estimates resulting in future
changes in estimated assets and liabilities.
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Use of estimates (continued)

Significant areas where the management has used estimates, assumption or exercised judgements
are as follows:
Measurement of the expected credit losses allowance
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised
cost and debt investment measured at FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and
significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood
of customers defaulting and the resulting losses).
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for
measuring ECL, such as:
•

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

•

Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;

•

Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type		
of product / market and the associated ECL; and

•

Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for financing and other credits with
credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
estimating cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount
and the timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss
estimates and actual loss experience.
Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Bank
makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment followed by
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease
can be identified within that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that
there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers and or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults on assets in the Bank.
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling
its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed periodically to reduce any difference between loss estimates
and actual loss experience. For individually significant loans and advances which are impaired, the
necessary impairment loss is considered based on the future cash flow estimates.
Individually significant loans and advances which are not impaired and all individually insignificant
loans and advances are then assessed collectively considering historical experience and observable
data on a portfolio basis, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics to determine whether
collective impairment loss to be made. In determining collective impairment loss, the Bank takes
into account several factors including credit quality, concentration risk, levels of past due, sector
performance, and available collateral and macro-economic conditions.
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Balances with banks
2018

								

2017

RO			

									

RO

		
Current accounts							

7,831,113		

11,390,405

Long term deposits							

10,000,000		

6,000,000

Short term deposit							 25,000,000

16,000,000

(37,000)		

-

									 42,794,113		

33,390,405

Provision for expected credit loss

				

Current accounts include an amount of RO 208,236 held by investment managers as of 31 December
2018 (2017 - nil).
Long term deposit has been placed for a period of two year and carry interest rate of 3% (2017 –
3.75%).
Short term deposits have been placed for a period of one year and carry interest rate of 3.6% to
4.25% (2017 - 3% to 3.55%).
All term deposits and current accounts are with local commercial banks located in the Sultanate of
Oman.

6

Loans and advances to customers

										

RO

RO

Loans and advances to customers						

142,801,948

130,908,365

Loan against trust receipts and working capital loans			

7,406,571

5,255,818

Interest receivable								

3,302,718

3,835,404

153,511,237

139,999,587

Provision for impairment 							(14,363,426)

(14,641,934)

										139,147,811

125,357,653

Gross loans and advances							
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Loans and advances to customers (continued)

Loans and advances were granted to projects within the Sultanate of Oman. The concentration
of gross loans and advances by sector is as follows:
										

2018

2017

RO

RO

										
Economic sector		

Manufacturing								 54,324,119

40,243,753

41,622,809

35,205,065

Services									 49,413,738

49,490,668

Mining and quarrying							

1,405,816

11,063,929

Others										

6,744,755

3,996,172

Agriculture and fisheries							

153,511,237 139,999,587

									
Movement in provision for impairment is analysed below:
						

2018

					Stage 1		

Stage 2		

Stage 3		

Total ECL

					RO		

RO		

RO		

RO
14,641,934

				

2017
Total
RO

Balance at 1 January			

1,774,398

952,899

11,914,637

Impact of Initial application		

109,014

676,000

(1,148,934)

(363,920)		

-

(126,239)

(195,660)

321,899

-		

-

Net charge for the year 		

396,542

542,596

(110,555)

828,583

1,741,815

Amounts written off			

-

-

(743,171)

(743,171)

(73,393)

Balance at 31 December *		

2,153,715

10,233,876

14,363,426

14,641,934

Transfers between stages

1,975,835

12,973,512

*
Included in the impairment provision as of 31 December 2017 a provision for non-funded facilities of
RO 105,475. The amount is immaterial and has not been transferred to other liabilities

Impairment provisions held							2018
								

CBO norms		

IFRS9

								RO / %		RO / %
Provision required as per CBO norms/held as per IFRS9 15,139,483

Difference
RO / %

14,363,426

(776,057)

Gross non-performing loan ratio (%)			

14.16%		

11.45%

(2.71%)

Net non-performing loan ratio (%)				

6.38%		

5.58%

(0.79%)
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RO (‘000)

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

			

Standard			

			

			

Stage 3

			

Stage 3

			

Stage 3

			

Stage 3

			

Stage 3

and related instructions

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Total

Total			

			

			

			

			

Stage 2

under CBO circular BM 977

Subtotal

Stage 1

Other items not covered

			

Stage 2

			

Subtotal

Stage 1

Loss			

			

Stage 2

			

Subtotal

Stage 1

Doubtful			

			

Stage 2

			

Subtotal

Stage 1

Substandard		

			

Stage 2

			

Subtotal

Stage 1

Special Mention		

			

(2)

(1)			

Subtotal

as per IFRS 9

as per CBO norms		

164,685

18,858

18,010

127,817

12,346		

8,963		

1,346 		

2,037 		

-		
-		

-

-		

-		

11,175

111

11,064

6,630
7,172

11,302

523 		

12,971

1,650

19 		

1,635		

4,072
19

1,485		

14 		

136 		

1,162		

841		

232 		

3,693

28

351

4,692

3,398

937

89		

517		

11,184
357

2		

502 		

13 		

1,860		

5		

75 		

1,780		

RO (‘000)

(4)

96

9,935

1,153

120,591

369

5,349

114,873

RO (‘000)

(3)

amount

Norms

per CBO

Gross

Classification

Asset classification		

2,793

2,775

14

4

-

-

-

-

2,656

2,650

6

-

93

91

-

2

44

34

8

2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

RO (‘000)

(5)

CBO norms

14,363		

10,233		

1,977

2,153

106		

-		

45 		

61

6,075		

6,045		

30 		

-		

2,214		

2,196		

7

11 		

1,819		

1,687		

128

4 		

873		

55		

806

12 		

3,276		

250		

961

2,065

RO (‘000)		

(6)		

IFRS 9		

interest as per held as per

Provision		

required as

			Asset			

Reserve

Specific provision				

Mapping of IFRS 9 and CBO norms			

776

1,505

(617)

(112)

(106)

-		

(45)

(61)

3,753

3,235

499

149,546

7,120

16,650

125,776

11,175

-

111

11,064

3,143

2,022

1,121

-

2,344

2,117

14

213

3,486

2,523

697

266

10,667

94

9,433

1,140

118,731

364

5,274

113,093

RO (‘000)

150,322

8,625

16,033

125,664

11,069

-

67

11,003

6,896

5,25

1,620

19

1,858

1,497

21

340

2,873

1,711

809

353

10,311

41

9,129

1,141

117,315

119

4,388

112,808

RO (‘000)

(9) = (3)-(6)

norms

as per IFRS 9

Net amount

Difference between

(8)=(3)-(4)-(5)

as per CBO

Net amount

19 		

(486)

(620)

7

127

(613)

(812)

112

87

(356)

(53)

(304)

1

(1,416)

(245)

(886)

(285)

RO (‘000)

(7) = (4)+(5)-(6)

provision held

required and

CBO provision

Comparison of provision held as per IFRS 9 and required as per CBO norms as required by CBO
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Loans and advances to customers (continued)

As of reporting date, the Bank has a portfolio of written off loans (“Technical write off portfolio”) where the Bank continues
to follow up with its customer in order to collect outstanding balances.
									

2018		

2017

									

RO		

RO

Opening									 5,766,598

5,811,996

Additions								 1,178,471		
45,051		

Accrued interest								

-

(84,315)		

Repayments								

(99,098)

(133,950)

Reversal									

-

6,771,855		

Closing									
7

53,700

5,766,598

Investments

Investment at fair value through other comprehensive income /
available-for-sale								 1,420,649

1,702,718

Investment at fair value through profit or loss / Held for trading 		

4,516,895

5,128,428

Investment measure at amortized cost / Held-to-maturity			

10,634,936

12,255,291

									16,572,480

19,086,437

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income / available-for-sale investments
Movement of investments at fair value through other comprehensive income / available-for-sale investments is given below:
									

2018		

2017

									

RO		

RO

At beginning of the year					

		

1,702,718

1,796,943

(282,069)		

(94,225)

At end of the year							 1,420,649		

1,702,718

Change in fair value 							

The analysis of market value based on the most recent market price and cost of quoted investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income / Available-for-sale investment by economic sector is as follows:
							
							

Cost		

Market value

2018

2017		

2018

2017

						
RO
Banking and investment					 351,634

RO		
351,634		

RO
880,808

RO
1,050,968

Industrial						 382,400

382,400		

491,268		

600,268

Services							 13,082

13,082		

47,573		

50,482

							 747,116

747,116

1,419,649

1,701,718
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Investments (continued)

Unquoted investments
Included in investments at fair value through other comprehensive income / available-for-sale investments is RO 1,000
(2017 - RO 1,000) being the value of unquoted Omani shares.
Details of the Bank's investments where the Bank's holding exceeds 10% of the market value of the Bank's investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income / available-for-sale investments portfolio, are as follows:
				

Investment

Number of

					

portfolio

shares

Market value		

Cost

					

%				

2018

2017

2018

2017

									

RO

RO

RO

RO

Quoted equity and fund investments							
Oman National Development 							
and Investment Co. SAOG		

56.31		

2,057,510

823,827 948,325

262,832

262,832

Oman Cement Company SAOG		

24.08		

1,000,000

300,000 410,000

200,000

200,000

Majan Glass Company SAOG		

11.23		

1,062,600

191,268 191,268

182,400

182,400

Investment at fair value through profit or loss / held-for-trading investments
Movement of the investments is given below:
										

2018		

2017

										

RO		

RO

At beginning of the year								 5,128,428		

6,019,815

Net purchases 									
Change in fair value (note 24)							

353,885			 (965,418)

At end of the year								 4,516,895		

(891,387)
5,128,428

There are no securities in which Banks’s holding exceeds 10% of the market value of the Bank’s investments at fair value
through profit or loss / held-for-trading investments portfolio.
Investment measured at amortized cost / held-to-maturity
										

2018		

2017

										

RO

RO

Government development and other bonds					

10,634,936

(12,255,291)

Government development and other bonds carry interest rates ranging from 2.75% to 5.5% (2017 - 2.75% to 5.5%).
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Investments (continued)

Investment measured at amortized cost / held-to-maturity (continued)
The movement of investments measured at amortized cost / held-to-maturity investments is given below:
								

2018

		

2017

								

RO			

RO

At beginning of the year					

12,255,291			

17,402,864

Matured during the year					 (2,000,000)			

(5,000,000)

Non-government bonds purchased during the year		

500,000

-

Provision for expected credit loss				

(5,920)				

-

Premium amortised during the year				

(114,435)			

At end of the year						 10,634,936
8

(147,573)
12,255,291

Staff housing loans

Staff housing loans are recoverable over periods of up to twenty years and are interest free till the employees’
end of service with the Bank and after that there is an interest charge ranging from 1% to 6%, depending on
the salary of the employee at the time of leaving. The fair value of staff housing loans is determined by using
discounted cash flow technique using market rates currently offered for such facilities. The difference between
the amount of staff house loans disbursed and the fair value of the housing loan is recognised as deferred
employee benefit (note 11).
9

Receivable from Government

								

2018			

2017

								

RO			

RO

Ministry of Finance - subsidy receivable 			

404,440			

383,742

Ministry of Finance - accrued subsidy 				

491,883			

518,024

Ministry of Finance – accrued management fees - Al Rafad

3,506,000			

1,701,997

							

4,402,323			

2,603,763

Ministry of Finance - Government soft loans 			

(590,976)			

(683,199)

								

3,811,347			

1,920,564

•

Subsidy receivable represents the amount billed to the MoF for the interest subsidy on the loans and
advances.

•

Accrued subsidy represents the interest subsidy due on loans and advances but not billed to the MoF
as at the reporting date.

•

Government soft loans represents the net balance of the funds received from MoF for various type of
schemes handled by the Bank on behalf of the MoF, as a custodian.

87

88
RO		

				

RO

RO		

176,524		
186,579		

210,313		
222,003		

345,261

319,621

1,210,531
151,358
1,361,889

1,126,002
166,286		
(81,757)		

632,111		
93,793		
(7,561)		
718,343		
93,286		
-		
811,629

1,474,443
163,397		
(82,048)		
1,555,792
112,473
-		
13,245		
1,681,510

RO		

857,073		
56,165		
(8,316)		
904,922		
5,631		
-		
77,600		
988,153		

482,787		
85,920		
-		
489,887

34,943		
1,219,372
647,590		
-		
-		
117,000		
-		
-		
(59,800)		
34,943		
1,219,372
704,790		
-		
-		
75,900		
-		
-		
(80,490)		
-		
-		
-		
34,943		
1,219,372
700,200		
					
-		
790,439		
450,835		
-		
48,775
91,746
-		
-		
(59,794)		

At 1 January 2018			
-		
839,214
Charge for the year
-		
48,775		
Disposals / write-offs
(78,820)
At 31 December 2018
887,989
Net book amount							
At 31 December 2018		
34,943		
331,383
							
At 31 December 2017		
34,943		
380,158

At 1 January 2017			
Additions				
Disposals / write-offs		
At 1 January 2018			
Addition 			
Disposals / write-offs		
Transfers				
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated depreciation		
At 1 January 2017			
Charge for the year		
Disposals / write-offs		

Cost							

RO		

work-in-

equipment

26,939

49,992

-

-

26,789
150
26,939
113,898
(90,845)
49,992

RO

1,195,883

1,122,776

3, 250,875
379,339
(78,820)
3,551,394

2,999,387
400,600
(149,112)

4,260,210
336,712
(150,164)
4,446,758
307,902
(80,490)
4,674,170

RO

progress			
Total

and fixtures

Vehicles

Land 		

				

Buildings

Capital

Office

Furniture

									

Property and equipment

													

10

Annual Report 2018

Annual Report 2018

11

Prepayments and other receivables

									

2018		

2017

									

RO		

RO

Deferred employee benefit						

561,137		

695,479

Interest accrued							

403,120

242,311

Guarantee recoverable from Ministry of Finance			

228,500

228,500

Customer relationship account receivables - net (note 11.1)		

159,553

126,989

Prepaid expenses							

50,974		

50,146

Short term staff loans - net						

77,481		

43,527

322,271		

241,633

									 1,803,036		

1,628,585

Other receivables							

11.1

Customer relationship account receivables

Customer relationship account receivables				

467,121		

Provision for impairment						 (307,568)
Customer relationship account receivables - net			

394,053
(267,064)

159,553		

126,989

267,064		

263,889

Movement in provision for impairment is as follows:		
Provision at 1 January							
Impairment charge for the year					
Balance at 31 December						
12

40,504

3,175

307,568		

267,064

500,993		

539,192

Customer deposits (Izdihar)

Term deposits								

The term deposits mature within one year and carries interest rates ranging from 0.10% - 1% per annum
(2017 - 0.10% - 1%) per annum.
13

Payable to Government

									

2018		

2017

									

RO		

RO

182,278		

138,851

Al Rafad Fund - balances under reconciliation			

89
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Payables and accruals

									

2018		

2017

									

RO		

RO

Customers relationship accounts*					

3,405,831		

3,113,922

Payable to Al Rafad Fund 						

1,356,073

1,300,000

Provision for leave salary, gratuity and air ticket			

632,733		

437,463

Accrued expenses							

384,527		

325,419

Provision for bonus							

288,301		

3,755

Other payables								 1,475,378		

691,223

									 7,542,843

5,871,782

*

Customer relationship accounts mainly include the balances received in advance from the customers
of the Bank.

15

Borrowings

During 2018, the Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development approved a loan of USD 50,000,000 (RO
19,250,000) to the Bank which has been disbursed to the Bank on 6 November 2018. The loan carries an
interest rate of 2% per annum payable semi-annually in the months of March and September. The loan has a
tenure of ten years with grace period of two years. The instalments are payable on semi-annual basis of USD
3.5 million from years 3 to 9 and USD 1 million in the last year with first payment due on 1 October 2021. In
2016, the Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development approved a loan of USD 50,000,000 (RO 19,345,986)
to the Bank which has been disbursed to the Bank on 12 August 2017. The loan carries an interest rate of 2%
per annum payable semi-annually in the months of March and September. The loan has a tenure of ten years
with grace period of two years. The instalments are payable on semi-annual basis of USD 3.5 million from years
3 to 9 and USD 1 million in the last year with first payment due on 1 October 2020.
Reconciliations of liabilities arising from financing activity:
						New net

Non cash

						

changes

borrowing

Cash flows

						in local		(exchange loss (interest
				
			

1 January

currency

RO		

RO

and interest)
RO

paid)		
RO

31 December
RO

31 December 2018					
Borrowings			

19,345,986

19,101,000

595,210

(387,980)

38,654,216

299,950

(54,964)

19,345,986

31 December 2017					
Borrowings			

90

-

19,101,000
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Trust activities

The Bank acts as a trustee for the following banks balances under trust are:
									

2018 		

2017

									

RO		

RO

Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund			

4,264,829		

4,292,669

AL Rafad Fund (Sanad Fund)						

5,319,465		

8,941,394

Grants for universities 						

3,000,000		

-

100,000,000		

100,000,000

100,000,000		

100,000,000

17

Share capital

Authorized share capital (100 million (2017 - 100 million)
ordinary shares of RO 1 each)					
Issued and fully paid (100 million (2017 - 100 million)
ordinary shares of RO 1 each)					
18

Legal reserve

The Legal Reserve, which is not available for distribution, is being accumulated in accordance with
Article 106 of the Commercial Companies Law of 1974. The annual appropriation shall be 10% of the
profit of the Bank until such time when the Legal Reserve amounts to at least one-third of the capital.
19

Dividend

During the year 2018 there was no dividend pay-out.
On 10 September 2017, the Ministry of Finance approved the rate of 5% for the management fee
for managing Al Rafad fund for the years 2015 and 2016 and 2.5% for the years beginning from 1
January 2017, and the amounts accrued for the years 2015 and 2016 will be adjusted against the
dividend payable to the shareholder. Subsequently on 21 December 2017 an Extra Ordinary General
Meeting was held to approve a dividend amounting to RO 6,924,150 to the shareholder i.e. Ministry
of Finance as dividend and to adjust the same against the amount receivable from Government.
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Special reserve

In accordance with the Article of Association of the Bank, an amount could be transferred to a special
reserve at the discretion of board of directors.
21

Impairment IFRS9 reserve

In accordance with the Central Bank of Oman requirements (CBO), if the provision for loan impairment
as per CBO norms is higher than the provision as per IFRS 9, the difference to be transferred to the
impairment reserve as an appropriation of profit. This reserve is not available for distribution of
dividend or for inclusion in regulatory capital. Any subsequent utilization of the impairment reserve
would require a prior approval of the CBO.
22

Interest income

									

2018		

2017

									

RO		

RO

Interest income from:		
Loans and advances to customers					

8,953,691

7,694,979

Cash and term deposits						

799,925

387,246

Other									

151,148

48,687

9,904,764

8,130,912

								

Interest income from loans and advances includes around RO 5.1 million (2017 - RO 4.7 million),
which represents Government subsidy provided by Ministry of Finance for customers for their
projects against which loans have been obtained by the customers from the Bank. The subsidy is
only applicable to customers who fulfil their obligations in repaying their instalments. In an event of
default by the customer the interest is fully charged to the customer and no claim is made for the
Ministry of Finance.
23

Fees, commission and other income

										
										

2018		
RO		

2017
RO

Management fee - Al Rafad Fund						

1,804,003

1,701,997

Commitment, legal, loan study and other fees and commissions

593,425

528,781

Other income									 414,596

546,990

										2,812,024

2,777,768
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Investment (loss) - net
2018		

2017

RO		

RO

68,778		

71,438

327,086		

391,961

•

Dividend income							 257,716		

309,210

•

Loss on sale of investments						

									
										
Realised income:		
Income from investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income / available-for- sale investments:		
•

Dividend income							
Income from investments at amortized cost / held-to-maturity
investments:		

•

Interest income from Government Development and other Bonds
Income from investments at fair value through profit or loss / held-fortrading investments:		

Total realised income								

(38,159)		
615,421		

772,609

Unrealised (loss) / income:		
Change in fair value of investment at fair value through
profit or loss / held for trading (note 7)						

(965,418)

										 (349,997)		
25

(891,387)
(118,778)

General and administrative expenses
5,843,773

5,563,092

Professional fees								 178,060

409,948

Depreciation (note 10)								

379,336

400,600

Office expenses								

302,404

273,600

Rent										

235,056

209,451

Communication costs								

175,203

167,932

Training expenses								

200,007

146,146

Exchange loss									

149,000

149,000

Travelling and vehicle expenses						

125,101

103,144

Board meeting expenses and sitting fees					

27,927

32,931

Director’s remuneration							

41,350

-

Fees and contribution to local institutes					

28,397

27,311

Employees' costs (note 26) 							

Direct write-off of loans and advances						

486,673		

1,489

Miscellaneous expenses							

412,982		

540,850

										8,585,269

8,025,494
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Employees costs

										
										

2018		

2017

RO		

RO

Salaries and allowances							 4,359,499

3,835,328

Bonus										

752,818

1,147,735

Social security costs								

388,439

366,359

Other benefits									

343,017

213,670

										 5,843,773

5,563,092

27

Taxation

The Bank is exempted from tax, in accordance with the Royal Decree 18/2006.
28

Related party transactions

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or
otherwise).
										
										

2018

2017

RO		

RO

69,277		

32,931

Directors remuneration		
Board meeting expenses and sitting fees					
Key management compensation		
482,999

Salary and benefits to key management personnel				

463,060

Receivables from and payables to related parties are disclosed in notes 9 and 13 respectively.
29

Commitments and contingencies

										
										
Loans and advances approved but not draw down			
Commitments for acquisition of property and equipment			

94

2018		

2017

RO

RO

22,350,620

18,142,067

58,294		

9,859
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Net assets value per share

Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets at the year-end by the number of shares outstanding as
follows:
2018		

										

2017

										

RO

RO

Net assets (RO)									

161,593,654

159,054,621

Number of shares outstanding at 31 December					

100,000,000

100,000,000

Net assets value per share (RO)							

1.616

1.591
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Assets and liabilities maturity profile

The table below analyses the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities and non - financial assets and liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date:
				On demand
				

or within six

6 - 12		

1 - 3		

3 - 5		

More than

				months		months		years		years		5 years
				RO		RO		RO		RO		RO

Total
RO

31 December 2018						
Maturities						
Financial assets						
Cash and balances with Central
Bank of Oman			

1,862,730		

-		

-

50,000		

1,912,730

Balances with banks		

17,831,113

9,000,000

15,963,000

-

-

42,794,113

Loans and advances to customers

18,925,476

15,292,464

47,485,684

32,706,572

24,737,615

139,147,811

Investments 			

4,567,685

5,065,650

4,000,000

1,024,416

1,914,729

16,572,480

Staff housing loans			

46,548		

40,074		

154,448

152,201

916,420

1,309,691

Receivable from Government		

3,811,347		

-		

-

-

-

3,811,347

Prepayment and other receivables

1,190,925		

-		

-

-

-

1,190,925

-		

-		

-

-

1,122,776

1,122,776

50,974		

-		

-

-

561,137

612,111

67,603,132

33,933,189

29,252,677

208,473,984

Non-financial assets						
Property and equipment
Prepayment and other receivables
Total assets		

48,286,798

29,398,188

Financial liabilities						
		

212,800		

137,900		

-

-

150,293

500,993

Payable to Government		

182,278		

-		

-

-

-

182,278

Payable and accruals			

7,539,560		

3,283		

-		

-

-

7,542,843

Borrowings			

154,216		

-		

14,000,000

-

24,500,000

38,654,216

Total liabilities			

8,088,854		

141,183		

14,000,000

-

24,650,293

46,880,330

Total shareholders’ funds		

-		

-		

-

-

161,593,654

161,593,654

Total liabilities and equity		

8,088,854		

141,183		

14,000,000

-

186,243,947

208,473,984

Customer deposits
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Assets and liabilities maturity profile

				On demand
				

or within six

6 - 12		

1 - 3		

3 - 5		

More than

				months		months		years		years		5 years

Total

				RO		RO		RO		RO		RO

RO

31 December 2017						
Maturities						
Financial assets						
Cash and balances with Central
Bank of Oman			

1,026,789

-		

-

-

50,000

1,076,789

Balances with banks			

14,390,405		

13,000,000		

6,000,000

-

-

33,390,405

Loans and advances to customers

16,857,562		

14,723,425		

43,592,362

29,110,507

Investments 			

4,866,717

64,604		

7,193,328

3,930,678

3,031,110

19,086,437

50,321

180,340

166,995

845,861

1,294,116

-		

-

-

-

1,920,564

- 		

-

-

-

882,960

-		

-

-

1,195,883

1,195,883

-		

-

695,479

745,625

56,966,030

33,208,180

Staff housing loans			
Receivable from Government		
Prepayment and other receivables

50,599		
1,920,564
882,960

21,073,797 125,357,653

Non-financial assets						
Property and equipment		
Prepayment and other receivables
Total assets			

50,146
40,045,742		

27,838,350		

26,892,130 184,950,432

Financial liabilities						
Customer deposits			

215,600

161,700		

-

-

161,892

539,192

Payable to Government		

138,851

-		

-

-

-

138,851

Payable and accruals			

5,869,500

2,282		

-

-

-

5,871,782

Borrowings			

95,986

-		

1,347,500

5,390,000

12,512,500

19,345,986

1,347,500

5,390,000

12,674,392

25,895,811

Total liabilities			

6,319,937		

163,982

Total shareholders’ funds		

-

-		

-

-

159,054,621 159,054,621

Total liabilities and equity		

6,319,937

163,982		

1,347,500

5,390,000

171,729,013 184,950,432
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Assets and liabilities re-pricing profile

10,000,000
13,449,476
5,025,066
40,074
28,514,616
-

154,216
154,216
154,216

38,500,000
38,500,000
38,500,000

50,000
25,000,000
106,772,858
5,027,239
1,223,070
138,073,167

Six months		
to twelve
Over twelve
months
months
RO		
RO

7,585,877
18,925,476
73,684
46,548
26,631,585

Interest
Less than
rate
six months
%		
RO

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman				
Balances with banks 				
1
Loans and advances to customers 			
6
Investments					
2.75 to 5.5
Staff housing loans					
5
Received from Government 						
Property and equipment						
Prepayment and other receivables					
Total assets							
Liabilities						
Customer deposits 				
0.10 to 1.25
Payable to Government						
Payables and accruals						
Borrowings					
2
Total liabilities							
Total shareholders’ funds						
Total liabilities and shareholders’ funds				

						
						
2018						
Assets						

32

1,912,730
42,794,113
139,147,810
16,572,480
1,309,692
3,811,347
1,122,776
1,803,036
208,473,984

Total
RO

500,993
500,993
182,278
182,278
7,542,843
7,542,843
38,654,216
8,226,114 46,880,330
161,593,654 161,593,654
169,819,768 208,473,984

6,446,491
3,811,347
1,122,776
1,803,036
15,254,616

1,862,730
208,236

Noninterest
sensitive
RO
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Assets and liabilities re-pricing profile

12,997,452
2,014,175
50,321
27,043
28,088,991
178,192
178,192
178,192

16,857,562
50,599
27,193
31,325,759
361,000
95,986
456,986
456,986

Loans and advances to customers 			
6
Investments					
2.75 to 5.5
Staff housing loans					
5
Received from Government 						
Property and equipment						
Prepayment and other receivables					
Total assets							
Liabilities						
Customer deposits 				
0.10 to 1
Payable to Government						
Payables and accruals						
Borrowings					
2
Total liabilities							
Total shareholders’ funds						
Total liabilities and shareholders’ funds				

13,000,000

14,390,405

19,250,000
19,250,000
19,250,000

95,502,639
10,241,116
1,193,196
641,243
113,628,194

50,000
6,000,000

Six months			
to twelve
Over twelve
months
months
RO		
RO

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman				
Balances with banks 				
1

								
						
Interest
Less than
						
rate
six months
2017						
%
RO
Assets						

32

1,076,789
33,390,405

Total
RO

539,192
138,851
138,851
5,871,782
5,871,782
19,345,986
6,010,633 25,895,811
159,054,621 159,054,621
165,065,254 184,950,432

- 125,357,653
6,831,146
19,086,437
1,294,116
1,920,564
1,920,564
1,195,883
1,195,883
933,106
1,628,585
11,907,488 184,950,432

1,026,789
-

Noninterest
sensitive
RO
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Basic and diluted earnings per share

									

2018			

2017

									

RO			

RO

Profit for the year (RO)							

2,457,182		

1,225,128

Weighted average number of shares on issue				

100,000,000		

100,000,000

Basic and diluted earnings per share (RO)				

0.025			

0.012

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year.
34

Capital adequacy

									

2018			

2017

									

RO			

RO

Capital base (Tier 1 & 2)						

162,206		

160,306

182,867		

160,396

Risk weighted assets
Credit risk								
Market risk								

11,875			

13,664

Operational risk							

23,081			

24,375

Total risk weighted assets						

217,823		

198,435

Capital adequacy ratio						

74.47%			

80.79%

35

Employees terminal benefits

The Bank contributes to the Government of Oman Social Insurance Scheme, which is a defined contribution
retirement plan. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Bank's contribution amounted to RO 388,439
(2017 - RO 366,358).
The provision for employee's terminal benefits for non-Omani employees is made in accordance with the
requirements of Omani Labour Law. This is an un-funded defined benefits retirement plan and the movements
during the year is as follows:
									

2018			

2017

									

RO			

RO

At 1 January								

110,826		

93,571

Charge for the year							

19,266		

17,255

Paid during the year							
At 31 December							

-			
130,092		

110,826
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Fair value information

Classification for financial assets and liabilities
the below table explains the accounting classifications if the financial assets and liabilities :
						

Investments

						

at fair value

Investments

Financial

						

through other

at fair value

assets and

						

comprehensive

through

31 December 2018				

income

profit or loss

RO

RO

RO

RO

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman

-

-

1,912,730

1,912,730

Balances with banks					

-

-

42,794,113

42,794,113

Loans and advances to customers 			

-		

-

139,147,810

139,147,810

Financial assets					

liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

Investments						

1,420,649

4,516,895

10,634,936

16,572,480

Staff housing loans					

-

-

1,309,692

1,309,692

Receivable from Government				

-		

-

3,811,347

3,811,347

Other receivables					

-

-

1,190,925

1,190,925

1,420,649

4,516,895

200,801,553

206,739,097

Total financial assets				
Total non-financial assets				

1,734,887

Total assets				

208,473,984

Financial liabilities				
Customer deposits (Izdihar)				

-		

-

500,993

500,993

Payable to Government					

-		

-

182,278

182,278

Payables						

-

-

7,542,843

7,542,843

Borrowings						

-

-

38,654,216

38,654,216

Total financial liabilities				

-

-

46,880,330

46,880,330

Total non-financial liabilities				
Total liabilities				

100

46,880,330
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Fair value information
Classification for financial assets and liabilities
the below table explains the accounting classifications if the financial assets and liabilities :
						 Investments
						
at fair value
						
through other
					
comprehensive
31 December 2017			
income
Financial assets					
RO

Investments
at fair value
through
profit or loss
RO

Financial
assets and
liabilities at
amortised
cost
RO

Total
RO

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman		

-		

-

1,076,789

1,076,789

Balances with banks					

-		

-

33,390,405

33,390,405

Loans and advances to customers				

-

125,357,653

125,357,653

Investments						

1,702,719

5,128,427

12,255,291

19,086,437

Staff housing loans					

-

-

1,989,595

1,989,595

Receivable from Government				

-

-

1,920,564

1,920,564

Other receivables					

-

-

882,960

882,960

Total financial assets					

1,702,719

5,128,427

176,873,257

183,704,403

-

Total non-financial assets						

1,246,029

Total assets				

184,950,432

Financial liabilities				
Customer deposits (Izdihar)				

-		

-

539,192

539,192

Payable to Government					

-		

-

138,851

138,851

Payables						

-		

-

5,871,782

5,871,782

Borrowings						

-		

-

19,345,986

19,345,986

Total financial liabilities					

-		

-

25,895,811

25,895,811

Total non-financial liabilities				

-

Total liabilities				

25,895,811

The table below analyses financial instruments and its fair values:
							

Carrying amount				

Fair value

							

2018

2017

2018

2017

							

RO

RO

RO

RO

1,912,730

1,076,789

1,912,730

1,076,789

Assets					
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman		
Balances with banks				

42,794,113

33,390,405

42,794,113

33,390,405

Loans and advances to customers			

139,147,810

125,357,653

139,147,810

125,357,653

Investments					

16,572,480

19,086,437

16,572,480

19,086,437

Staff housing loans				

1,309,692

1,294,116

1,309,692

1,294,116

Receivable from Government				

3,811,347

1,920,564

3,811,347

1,920,564

Prepayments and other receivables			

1,190,925

882,960

1,190,925

882,960
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Fair value information (continued)

						

Carrying amount		

Fair value

						

2018

2017

2018

2017

						

RO

RO

RO

RO

Customer deposits				

500,993

539,192

500,993

539,192

Payable to Government			

182,281

138,851

182,281

138,851

Payables and accruals			

7,542,846

5,871,782

7,542,846 5,871,782

Borrowings					

38,654,215

19,345,986

38,654,215 19,345,986

Liabilities					

Interest rates used for determining fair value:
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the
Government yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate credit spread, and were as follows:
									2018			2017
									RO			RO		
Staff loans

							5%			5%

Fair value hierarchy
The table analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different
levels have been defined as follows:
Level 1
Level 1 assets and liabilities are typically exchange -traded positions traded in active markets. These
positions are valued using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets.
Level 2
Fair value is determined using valuation techniques based on valuation models with directly or
indirectly market observable inputs. These valuation techniques include discounted cash flow
analysis models, option pricing models, simulation models and other standard models commonly
used by market participants. Valuation techniques incorporate assumptions that other market
participants would use in their valuations, such as discount rates, default rates, credit spreads and
option volatilities. These inputs need to be directly or indirectly observable in order to be classified
as level 2.
Level 3
Level 3 assets are valued using techniques similar to those outlined for level 2, except that if the
instrument has one or more inputs that are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement
of the instrument in its entirety, it will be classified as level 3.
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Fair value information (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
									

2018

2017

									

RO

RO

Level 1		
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income /
available-for-sale							 1,420,649		

1,701,718

4,516,895		

5,128,428

									 5,936,544		

6,830,146

Investments at fair value through profit or loss / Held for trading

Level 3 		
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income /
available-for-sale 							

1,000

1,000

There were no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 of the fair value hierarchy of the investment
securities. Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income / available-for-sale investments have
been disclosed under level 2.
37

Risk management

Oman Development Bank is owned by the of the Sultanate of Oman. It provides assistance to development
project in the Sultanate of Oman by granting loans, administering grants and subsidies, participating in share
capital and providing technical assistance to companies. In accordance with its objectives, interest on loans and
advances is charged to customers at rates which are subidised by the Government.
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Risk management (continued)

All of the Bank’s activities involve, to varying degrees, the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management
of risks or combinations of risks. The most important categories of risk that the Bank is exposed to are capital
risk, credit risk, market risk, operational risks in various forms, liquidity risk, reputational risk, legal risk and
sustainability (environmental and social) risks. Market risk includes foreign exchange, interest rate and equity
price risks. The management of these various risk categories is discussed below.
The risk profiles of the Bank change constantly under the influence of a wide range of factors. The risk
management framework established by the Bank fosters the continuous monitoring of the risk environment
and an integrated evaluation of risks and their interdependencies.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the borrower of a loan fails to adhere to the terms of borrowing, causing the Bank to
suffer a loss in terms of cash flow or market value.
The Bank deals with creditworthy parties to lessen its risk on each individual credit exposure. The credit
worthiness of a party and the business viability of a project are assessed by the appropriate committee before
an exposure is undertaken. The Managers evaluate and monitor their respective portfolios and are held
responsible for follow up of credit / follow up and recovery of defaulting clients.
Concentration of loans by economic sectors as shown in note 6 to the financial statements, shows the
diversification of the loans, thereby reducing the possibilities of losses in the event of a reduction in activity in
one sector.
The below table details the bank's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account the value of
any collateral obtained, which represents the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of impairment losses.
								

2018			

2017

								

RO		

RO

Balances with banks						

44,699,562		

34,458,746

Loans and advances to customers				

139,147,811		

125,357,653

Staff housing loans						

1,309,692		

1,294,116

Receivable from Government					

3,811,346		

1,920,564

Other receivables 						

1,190,925		

								 190,159,336

104
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Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
The table below presents an analysis of balances with banks as at 31 December:
							
							

2018
RO			

2017
RO

Baa1							

4,028

-

Baa2							

7,127,766		

10,948,196

Baa3							

491,083

424,334

Not rated						

-

2,758

							

7,622,877		

11,375,288

The following table shows the placements of fixed deposits held with counterparties at the reporting date:
							

2018

2017

							

RO		

RO

Aa3							

9,000,000

11,000,000

Baa2							

4,000,000

3,000,000

Baa3							

6,000,000		

5,000,000

Ba1							

16,000,000

3,000,000

Not rated						

-

-

							

35,000,000

22,000,000

The following table shows the rating of Government development bonds at the reporting date:
							

2018

2017

							

RO		

RO

Baa2							

-		

12,255,291

Baa3							

10,134,936		

-

Not rated						

500,000		

-

							

10,634,936

12,255,291
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Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortized cost,
commitments and financial guarantees.
Cash and Balances with Central Banks and Banks
						
				

Stage 1

				

RO

Standard			

44,743,842

Loss allowance			
Carrying amount		

2018				
Stage 2

Stage 3

RO		

2017

Total		

Total

RO

RO

RO

-

-

44,743,842

34,467,194

(37,000)

-		

-

44,706,842

-		

-

(37,000) 		
44,706,842

34,467,194

Loans and advances to customers (including loan commitments)
						
				

Stage 1

				

RO

2018				
Stage 2

Stage 3

RO		

2017

Total		

RO		

Total

RO

RO

114,873,471

5,349,492

369,087

120,592,050

108,248,928

Special mention		

1,153,312

9,934,869

95,629

11,183,810

10,204,332

Substandard			

356,979

937,087

3,398,451

4,692,517

5,540,265

Doubtful			

351,149

27,680

3,692,886

4,071,715

4,174,935

Loss				

18,741

1,650,070

11,302,334

12,971,145

11,831,127

				116,753,652

17,899,198

18,858,387

153,511,237

139,999,587

(14,363,426)

(14,641,934)

Carrying amount								139,147,811

125,357,653

Standard		

Loss allowance									

Investment securities (debt)
2018				

						
				

Stage 2

Stage 3

Total		

Total

RO

RO

RO

RO		

RO

Standard			 10,640,856

-

-

10,640,856

12,255,291

-

-

(5,920)

-

-		

-

10,634,936

12,255,291

				

Loss allowance			
Carrying amount		
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Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment
Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis including internal credit risk grading system, external risk ratings, where available,
delinquency status of accounts, credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience.
The Bank may also determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk
based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such and whose effect
may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.
Credit risk grades
Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk
of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower.
Exposures are subject to on-going monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a
different credit risk grade.
Generating the term structure of probability of default (PD)
The Bank employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of PD of
exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time. This analysis
includes the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and
changes in key macro-economic factors, across various geographies in which the Bank has exposures.
Renegotiated financial assets
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit
deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised
and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value. Where possible, the Bank seeks to
restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral, if available. This may involve extending
the payment arrangements and documenting the agreement of new loan conditions. Management
continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments
are likely to occur.
The accounts which are restructured due to credit reasons in the past 12 months will be classified
under Stage 2.
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Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Definition of default
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:
-

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by		
the Bank to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

-

the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Bank; or

-

the borrower is classified as Substandard, Doubtful or Loss on the CBO scale.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank also considers indicators that are:
-

quantitative – e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same		
issuer to the Bank; and

-

based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may
vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that
applied by the Bank for regulatory capital purposes.
Incorporation of forward-looking information
The Bank employs statistical models to incorporate macro-economic factors on historical default
rates.
Incorporating forward-looking information increases the level of judgement as to how changes in
these macroeconomic factors will affect the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) applicable to the stage 1
and stage 2 exposures which are considered as performing. The methodologies and assumptions
involved, including any forecasts of future economic conditions, are reviewed periodically.
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information.
The Bank uses a mathematical function which links the credit cycle index with PD as a key input to
ECL. These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial
instrument. Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are obtained from
public sources (such as GDP and Oil prices from the IMF World Economic Outlook) and provide the
best estimate view of the economy over the forthcoming years.
Scenarios are incorporated through the forward-looking factors selected. The weightings assigned
to each macro-economic scenario, as at 31 December 2018, were 70% to Base Case and 25% to
Downside and 5% to Upside Case.
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Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:
-

probability of default (PD);

-

loss given default (LGD); and

-

exposure at default (EAD).

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other
historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.
PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated based on statistical models. These
statistical models are primarily based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative and
qualitative factors and are supplemented by external credit assessment data where available.
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters
based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models
consider the forecasted collateral value and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the
financial asset.
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the
current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the
contract including amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For lending
commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD includes the amount drawn, as well as potential
future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical
observations and forward-looking forecasts.
Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include:
-

credit risk grading; and

-

customer segment;

The groups are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain
appropriately homogeneous.
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Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk an enterprise will face in obtaining funds to meet its obligations at any given time.
The Bank's liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that even under adverse conditions the Bank
would be in a position to meet its obligations
The Board of Directors and the management monitor the Bank's liquidity requirements.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Bank’s financial condition to movements in interest rates. Mismatches
or gaps in the amount of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments can generate interest rate risk, the
impact of which is a function of the interest rate changes and the maturity profile of the assets and liabilities.
Positions are monitored regularly to manage the interest rate risk. The impact of an a minor increase interest
would not result in material impact as most of the Bank’s assets and liabilities carry fixed interest rate.
Currency risk
The foreign currency risk is minimal as all the transactions are incurred in Rials Omani or United States Dollar
which is pegged to Rials Omani.
Price risk
The Bank is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held for
strategic rather than trading purposes. The Bank does not actively trade these investments.
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date. If equity prices had been 5% higher / lower:
•

The profit for the year would have decreased / increased by RO 255,845 (2017 - RO 256,421) as		
a result of change in fair value of investment at fair value through profit or loss / held for			
trading investments.

•

Change in fair value reserves would decreased / increased by RO 71,032 (2017 - RO 85,136) as a		
result of the changes in fair value of investment at fair value through other comprehensive income		
/ available-for-sale investments.
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Risk management (continued)

Operational risk
The Bank defines operational risk as the risk to achieving your strategy or objectives as a result of inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. Losses arising through fraud,
unauthorised activities, errors, omission, inefficiency, systems failure or from external events all fall within the
operational risk definition.
A formal governance structure provides oversight over the management of operational risk. The risk
management meeting convenes monthly to discuss operational risk issues and the effectiveness of internal
controls.
38

Proposed dividend

No cash dividend has been proposed by the Board of Directors for 2018 (2017 – RO 6,924,150).
39

Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue on 25 March 2019.
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BASEL II – PILLAR III & BASEL III RELATED DISCLOSURES FOR THE FULL
YEAR 2018
1. Disclosure Policy
Oman Development Bank SAOC has in place a “Disclosure Policy” approved by the Board of Directors.
The policy is reviewable periodically. The policy framework covers the extent of disclosures as well as
the internal control processes required to ensure that such disclosures are consistent and reliable.
The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) first issued measures to strengthen the Basel II
accord in 2009 (popularly known as Basel 2.5) and then issued a regulatory framework for increasing
the resilience of banks and the banking system in December 2010, which was revised in June 2011.
This framework is called Basel III.
The following detailed qualitative and quantitative public disclosures are provided in accordance with
Central Bank of Oman (CBO) rules and regulations on capital adequacy standards issued through
circular BM 1009 on Guidelines on Basel II, and BM 1114 on Regulatory Capital and Composition of
Capital Disclosure Requirement under Basel III.
The Basel Committee has since issued its rules text on “composition of capital disclosure requirements‟.
This document is available at http://www.bis.org./publ/bcbs221.htm. Accordingly, Pillar 3 disclosure
requirements under Basel III are introduced for banks by the Central Bank of Oman. Banks are
required to comply with the disclosure requirements from the date of publication of their first set of
financial statements relating to a balance sheet date on or after June 30, 2013. In Oman, the roadmap
for implementation of Basel III has indicated that there would be a gradual phase-in of the standards
beginning from 2013 until 2019.The higher capital requirements will be implemented gradually from
2013 through 2015. Further to this, vide CBO letter dt. October 28, 2014, it has been decided to
modify the Capital Conservation Buffer and accordingly 1.25% is to be provided as of 01-01-2017. As
per Basel III, Concept Paper 3 issued by CBO, countercyclical buffer requirement is 1.875% for 2018.
However, presently the countercyclical capital buffer is not operationalized.
During 2018, with the intention of enabling banks to facilitate economic growth and to streamline
liquidity management, CBO has reduced the Tier 2 capital requirement from 3 per cent to 2 per cent,
reducing the minimum total Capital Adequacy Ratio, excluding capital buffers, to 11 per cent.
Moreover, banks are now allowed to include deposits from local banks as part of their deposit base
to calculate lending ratio.
In line with the Basel III requirements, CBO withdrew the minimum 100 per cent risk weightage
requirements imposed on exposures to other sovereigns and central banks. Moreover, CBO increased
the aggregate overseas exposure limits (credit, placements and credit and placements together) from
50 to 75 per cent of local net worth of the banks and also increased the maturity mismatch limits for
tenors of three or more months.
Vide Circular No. 1155 dt 20/03/2018, CBO modified treatment of lending ratio as follows. “Local
inter-bank positions shall be allowed to be reckoned for lending ratio purposes. Accordingly CBO
shall include borrowings/ placements, if any from other commercial banks in their deposit base
and reduce lending/ placements, if any to/ with other commercial banks from the deposit base(for
lending ratio purpose)” Also Commercial banks should treat transactions with specialized banks as
customer-transactions (both deposits and loans) and not inter-bank.
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Consequent to implementation of IFRS 9, classification and measurement of financial assets are to be
done in a different way. It was expected that provisioning as per IFRS 9 requirements would be higher
than that under IAS 39. It is required to compute the total provisions for impairment as required by
extant guidelines on provisioning for non-performing and restructured loans.
Banks were allowed to reckon stage 1 impairment allowances (12 month expected loss) made
under IFRS 9 up to 1.25% of the total credit risk weighted assets (RWA) for inclusion in Tier 2 capital.
Subsequently banks are permitted to include Stage 2 provisions in Tier 2 capital. This is subject to the
condition that the total of Stage 1 and permitted stage 2 provisions (permitted: 80% of Stage 2 for
2018) would be subject to a ceiling of 1.25% of credit RWA. Also it shall not exceed the total general
provision amount taken by banks for Tier 2 capital as on December 31, 2017.
This document takes into account the requirements of Pillar 3 disclosure under Basel III.
2. Scope of Application (Subsidiaries /Groups)
A. Qualitative Disclosures
ODB is not a part of any group either as a member or as the top corporate entity in the group. The
bank does not hold investments in any of the other banks.
B. Quantitative Disclosures
The financial statements do not include consolidation of accounts of any other entities.

Name of the entity (ies)

N.A.

Country of Incorporation

N.A.

Shareholding (%)

N.A.

Other Major Shareholders (Name and %
shareholding

N.A

Main activity of the entity

N.A

Total assets

N.A.

Capital Adequacy Ratio(%) if applicable

N.A.

Short fall in capital, if any, vis-à-vis the
regulatory requirements.

N.A

3. Range of Disclosures
A. Capital Structure
i.

Qualitative Disclosures

The Bank’s equity comprises of issued and fully paid up share capital, Legal/Statutory Reserves
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(created by transferring 10% of yearly net profits-this reserve is not available for distribution), Special/
Voluntary Reserves (created by transferring portion of yearly net profit, as voluntary provision, to
mitigate unexpected increase of provision due to high growth of loan provision during some years),
Investment Revaluation Reserves, Impairment Reserve and Retained Earnings. The capital is fully
contributed by the Ministry of Finance of Sultanate of Oman.
The Bank does not have any innovative, complex or hybrid capital instruments.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Disclosure template for main features of regulatory capital instruments
Issuer
Oman Development Bank SAOC
Unique identifier (eg CUSIP, ISIN or Bloomberg
NA
identifier for private placement)
Governing law(s) of the instrument Regulatory
Common Shares. Omani Companies
treatment
Law
Transitional Basel III rules
Common Equity Tier 1
Post-transitional Basel III rules
Common Equity Tier 1
Eligible at solo/group/group & solo
Solo
Instrument type (types to be specified by each
Common Shares. Sultanate of Oman
jurisdiction)
Amount recognised in regulatory capital
(Currency in mil, as of most recent reporting
RO 100 million
date)
Par value of instrument
RO 1 per share
Accounting classification
Shareholder's Equity
2006: RO 20 mln;
2007: RO 20 mln;

11

Original date of issuance

2009: RO 18 mln;
2010: RO 12 mln;

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
114

Perpetual or dated
Original maturity date
Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval
Optional call date, contingent call dates and
redemption amount
Subsequent call dates, if applicable
Coupons / dividends
Fixed or floating dividend/coupon
Coupon rate and any related index
Existence of a dividend stopper
Fully discretionary, partially discretionary or
mandatory
Existence of step up or other incentive to redeem
Noncumulative or cumulative
Convertible or non-convertible

2011: RO 30 mln
Perpetual
No maturity
No
NA
NA
Floating
NA
NA
Fully discretionary
No
Noncumulative
Non-convertible
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24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37

If convertible, conversion trigger (s)
If convertible, fully or partially
If convertible, conversion rate
If convertible, mandatory or optional conversion
If convertible, specify instrument type convertible
into
If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it
converts into
Write-down feature
If write-down, write-down trigger(s)
If write-down, full or partial
If write-down, permanent or temporary
If temporary write-down, description of write-up
mechanism
Position in subordination hierarchy in liquidation
(specify instrument type immediately senior to
instrument)
Non-compliant transitioned features
If yes, specify non-compliant features

NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
Yes
Statutory Approach
Write-down fully
Permanent
NA
NA
No
NA

ii. Quantitative Disclosures
The table below shows ‘Basel III common disclosure template to be used from 1 January 2018)’ for
the year ending 31-12-2018

1
2
3
4
5
6

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves
Directly issued qualifying common share capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves)
Directly issued capital subject to phase out from CET1
Public sector capital injections grandfathered until 1 January 2018
Common share capital issued by subsidiaries and held by third
parties (amount allowed in group CET1)
Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments
Common Equity Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments

7

Prudential valuation adjustments

8

Goodwill (net of related tax liability)
Other intangibles other than mortgage-servicing rights (net of
related tax liability)
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability excluding those
arising from temporary differences (net of related tax liability)
Cash-flow hedge reserve
Shortfall of provisions to expected losses
Securitisation gain on sale (as set out in paragraph 14.9 of CP-1)

9
10
11
12
13

Amount in RO 000's

100,000
47,369
12,776
0
0
0
160,145
(32)
0
0
0
0
0
0
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Gains and losses due to changes in own credit risk on fair valued
liabilities.
Defined-benefit pension fund net assets
Investments in own shares (if not already netted off paid-in capital
on reported balance sheet)
Reciprocal cross-holdings in common equity
Investments in the capital of banking, financial, insurance
and takaful entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation, net of eligible short positions, where the bank does
not own more than 10% of the issued share capital (amount above
10% threshold)
Significant investments in the common stock of banking, financial,
insurance and takaful entities that are outside the scope of
regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short positions (amount
above 10% threshold)
Mortgage Servicing rights (amount above 10% threshold)
Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (amount
above 10% threshold, net of related tax liability)
Amount exceeding the 15% threshold
of which: significant investments in the common stock of financials
of which: mortgage servicing rights
of which: deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences
National specific regulatory adjustments
Of which: [INSERT NAME OF ADJUSTMENT]
Of which: [INSERT NAME OF ADJUSTMENT]
OF WHICH: [INSERT NAME OF ADJUSTMENT]
Regulatory adjustments applied to Common Equity Tier 1 due to
insufficient Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 to cover deductions
Total regulatory adjustments to Common equity Tier 1

29

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1)

14
15
16
17

18

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
26a
26b
26c
27

30
31
32
33
34

Additional Tier 1 capital: instruments
Directly issued qualifying Additional Tier 1 instruments plus related
stock surplus
of which: classified as equity under applicable accounting standards
of which: classified as liabilities under applicable accounting
standards
Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase out from
Additional Tier 1
Additional Tier 1 instruments (and CET1 instruments not included
in row 5) issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount
allowed in group AT1)

35

of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase out

36

Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments
Additional Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments
Investments in own Additional Tier 1 instruments

37
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0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
160,113
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
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39

40
41
41a
41b
41c
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53

54

55
56
56a
56b
56c
57

Reciprocal cross-holdings in Additional Tier 1 instruments
Investments in the capital of banking, financial, insurance
and takaful entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation, net of eligible short positions, where the bank does
not own more than 10% of the issued common share capital of the
entity (amount above 10% threshold)
Significant investments in the capital of banking, financial, insurance
and takaful entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation (net of eligible short positions)
National specific regulatory adjustments
OF WHICH: [INSERT NAME OF ADJUSTMENT]
OF WHICH : [INSERT NAME OF ADJUSTMENT]
OF WHICH: [INSERT NAME OF ADJUSTMENT]
Regulatory adjustments applied to Additional Tier 1 due to
insufficient Tier 2 to cover deductions
Total regulatory adjustments to Additional Tier 1 capital
Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1)
Tier 1 capital (T1 = CET1 + AT1)
Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions
Directly issued qualifying Tier 2 instruments plus related stock
surplus
Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase out from Tier 2
Tier 2 instruments (and CET1 and AT1 instruments not included
in rows 5 or 34) issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties
(amount allowed in group Tier 2)
of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase out
Provisions(provision and fair value reserve)- Stage 1 provision
Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments
Tier 2:regulatory adjustments
Investments in own Tier 2 instruments
Reciprocal cross-holdings in Tier 2 instruments
Investments in the capital of banking, financial, insurance
and takaful entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation, net of eligible short positions, where the bank does
not own more than 10% of the issued common share capital of the
entity (amount above the 10% threshold)
Significant investments in the capital banking, financial, insurance
and takaful entities that are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation (net of eligible short positions)
Total National specific regulatory adjustments
Of which: Investments in Tier 2 capital unconsolidated banking and
financial subsidiary companies, associates or affiliates etc.
Of Which: shortfall in the Tier 2 capital in the unconsolidated entities
Of Which: [Insert NAME OF ADJUSTMENT]
Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital

0

0

0
0

0
0
0
160,133
0
0
0
0
2,093
2,039
0
0

0

0
0

0
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58
59
60a
60b
60c
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68

69
70
71

72
73
74
75

76
77
78
79
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Tier 2 capital (T2)
Total capital (TC = T1 + T2)
Of which: Credit risk weighted assets
Of which: Market risk weighted assets
Of which: Operational risk weighted assets
Total risk weighted assets (60a+60b+60c)
Capital Ratios and buffers
Common Equity Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)
Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)
Total capital (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)
Institution specific buffer requirement (minimum CET1 requirement
plus capital conservation buffer plus countercyclical buffer
requirements plus G-SIB/D-SIB buffer requirement expressed as a
percentage of risk weighted assets)
of which: capital conservation buffer requirement
of which: bank specific countercyclical buffer requirement
of which: D-SIB/G-SIB buffer requirement
Common Equity Tier 1 available to meet buffers (as a percentage of
risk weighted assets)
National minima (if different from Basel 3)
National Common Equity Tier 1 minimum ratio (if different from
Basel 3 minimum)
National Tier 1 minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3 minimum)
National total capital minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3
minimum)
Amounts below the thresholds for deduction
(before risk weighting)
Non-significant investments in the capital of other financials
Significant investments in the common stock of financials
Mortgage servicing rights (net of related tax liability)
Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (net of
related tax liability)
Applicable caps on the inclusion of provisions in Tier 2
Provisions eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 in respect of exposures
subject to standardised approach (prior to application of cap)
Cap on inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 under standardised
approach
Provisions eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 in respect of exposures
subject to internal ratings-based approach (prior to application of
cap)
Cap for inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 under internal ratings-based
approach
Capital instruments subject to phase-out arrangements
(only applicable between 1 Jan 2018 and 1 Jan 2022)

2,093
162,206
182,867
11,875
23,081
217,823
73.51%
73.51%
74.47%
8.875%
1.875%
0%
0%
64.6%

8.875%
10.875%
12.875%

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
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80
81
82
83
84
85

Current cap on CET1 instruments subject to phase out
arrangements
Amount excluded from CET1 due to cap (excess over cap after
redemptions and maturities)
Current cap on AT1 instruments subject to phase out arrangements
Amount excluded from AT1 due to cap (excess over cap after
redemptions and maturities)
Current cap on T2 instruments subject to phase out arrangements
Amount excluded from T2 due to cap (excess over cap after
redemptions and maturities)

NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA

Reconciliation requirements
A reference is invited to paragraph 91 of the Basel III rules, which states that banks should disclose “a
full reconciliation of all regulatory capital elements back to the balance sheet in the audited financial
statements. The reconciliation process laid down is aimed at addressing the issues of disconnect
between the numbers disclosed for the calculation of regulatory capital and the numbers used in the
published financial statements. The 3 step approach indicated below will ensure that the reconciliation
between these numbers is undertaken in a consistent manner. Banks are required to take a 3 step
approach to show the link between their balance sheet in their published financial statements and
the numbers that are used in the composition of capital disclosure template set out in Section 1.
The 3 steps require banks to:
•

Step 1: Disclose the reported balance sheet under the regulatory scope of consolidation
(Table 2a)

•

Step 2: Expand the lines of the balance sheet under the regulatory scope of consolidation to
display all of the components that are used in the composition of capital disclosure template.
(Table 2b)

•

Step 3: Map each of the components that are disclosed in Step 2 to the composition of capital
disclosure template

Step 1: TABLE 2a: RECONCILIATION TEMPLATE

(RO ’000)0)
Balance sheet as in
published financial
statements
As at period end
31-12-2018

Assets
Cash and balances with CBO
Certificates of deposit
Due from banks
Loans and advances
Investments in securities
Loans and advances to banks

Under regulatory
scope of
consolidation
As at period end
31-12-2018

1,913
0

1,913
0

42,794

42,794

139,148
16,572
0

139,148
16,572
0
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Property and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to banks
Customer deposits
Current and deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Subordinated bonds
Total liabilities
Shareholders' Equity
Paid-up share capital
Share premium
Legal reserve
General reserve
Impairment Reserve
Retained earnings
Cumulative changes in fair value of investments
Subordinated debt reserve
Total shareholders' equity
Total liability and shareholders’ funds

1,123
0
6,924
208,474

1,123
0
6,924
208,474

0
501
0
46,379

0
501
0
46,379

46,880

46,880

100,000
0
7,235
5,541
776
47,369
673
0
161,594
208,474

100,000
0
7,235
5,541
776
47,369
673
0
161,594
208,474

Step 2: TABLE 2b: Expansion of The balance sheet under the regulatory scope of consolidation

Assets
Cash and balances with CBO
Balance with banks and money at call and short
notice
Investments of which :
Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income
(FVOCI)
Fair Value Through Profit & Loss (FVTPL)
Loans and advances- Net of which:
Loans and advances to domestic banks
Loans and advances to non-resident banks
Loans and advances to domestic customers
Loans and advances to non-resident Customers
for domestic operations
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Balance sheet
Under
as in published
regulatory
financial
scope of
statements
consolidation
As at period
As at period
end 31-12-2018 end 31-12-2018
1,913
1,913
42,794

42,794

16,572

16,572

Ref

x

1,420
139,148
139,148

15,152
139,148
139,148

-

0

y
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Loans and advances to non-resident Customers
for operations abroad
Loans and advances to SMEs
Financing from Islamic banking window
Provision against Loans and Advances, of
which:
-Stage 3 Impairment Allowance and Reserve
Interest
Stage 1/ 2 impairment allowance, of which
Amount eligible for T2
Amount ineligible for T2
Fixed assets
Other assets
Stage 1/ 2 impairment allowance, of which
Amount eligible for T2
Amount ineligible for T2
Total Assets
Capital & Liabilities
Paid-up Capital
Of which:
Amount eligible for CET1
Amount eligible for AT1
Reserves & Surplus
Legal Reserves (Eligible for CET1)
Special Reserves (Eligible for CET1)
Retained Earnings (Eligible for CET1)
AFS investments fair value loss (CET1 adjustment)
Tier 1 Capital
Amount ineligible for T2 (Impairment Reserve)
Balance with banks and money at call and short
notice(Eligible for Tier 2)
Investments -Fair Value Through Profit & Loss
(FVTPL)- (Eligible for Tier 2)
Stage 1/ 2 impairment allowance
(Eligible for Tier 2)*
Tier 2 Capital
Total Capital
Deposits Of which:
Deposits from banks
Customer deposits
Deposits of Islamic Banking window
Other deposits(please specify)
Borrowings Of which: From CBO
From banks

-

0

-

0

14,363

14,363

10,234

10,234

4,129

1,123
6,924

4,129
1,776
2,353
1,123
6,924

0
0
208,474

0
0
208,474

100,000

100,000

100,000
0

100,000
0

d
e

7,235
5,541
47,369
(32)
160,113
776

7,235
5,541
47,369
(32)
160,113
0

j
k
l

0

0

n

704

317

o

0

1,776

p

2093
162,206

q
r

161,594
0
0
501
0
0
0
0

a
b

c

m

0
501
0
0
0
0

s
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From other institutions & agencies
Borrowings in the form of bonds,
Debentures and sukuks
Others (Payables & Accruals)
Other liabilities & provisions Of which:
DTLs related to goodwill
DTLs related to intangible assets
Total Capital & Liabilities

38,654
0
0
7,725
0
0
0
208,474

38,654
0
0
7,725
0
0
0
209,086

t

u

v

*subject to maximum of 1.5% of RWA, (Stage 1 Impairment Allowance+ 80% Stage 2 Impairment
Allowance) or General Provision of 2017.
Step 3: Reconciliation of Regulatory Capital
Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves
Source based on
reference numbers/
letters of the
balance sheet under
the regulatory scope
of consolidation
from step 2

Component of
regulatory capital
reported by bank

1

Directly issued qualifying common share
(and equivalent for non- joint stock
companies) capital plus related stock
surplus

2

Retained earnings

3
4

5
6

Accumulated other comprehensive income
(and other reserves)
Directly issued capital subject to phase out
from CET1 (only applicable to non-joint
stock companies)
Common share capital issued by
subsidiaries and held by third parties
(amount allowed in group CET1)
Common Equity Tier 1 capital before
regulatory adjustments

100,000

d

47,369

l

12,776

J+k

0

0
160,145

7

Prudential valuation adjustments

0

8

Goodwill (net of related tax liability)

0

9

Total Regulatory Adjustments to CET1

0

10

Common Equity Tier 1 capital after
regulatory adjustments

160,145
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11

Directly issued qualifying Tier 2 instruments

12

Provisions

13

Fair Value reserve of AFS investments

14

0
1,776

p

317

o

Tier 2 capital before regulatory
adjustments

2,093

q

15

Regulatory Adjustments to Tier 2

0

16

Tier 2 capital after regulatory
adjustments

2,093

q

B. Capital Adequacy
i.

Qualitative Disclosures

Summary Discussion:
The capital adequacy of the bank is being calculated every quarter, considering various types of Risks
(Credit, Market and Operational) and as per the guidelines of the Central Bank of Oman. The bank
has considered that level of capital is sufficient not only to meet future business plans but also to
cushion any unexpected losses. The bank has adopted Standardized Approach for assessing capital
adequacy for Credit and Market Risks and Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risks
Credit Risk:
For Credit Risk, Bank has assigned following Risk Weights:
•

100% for all Corporate and Retail exposures without regard to external ratings and without
availing Risk Weight of 75% allowed for Retail exposures meeting pre-defined criteria respectively.

•

150% Risk Weight for Net Unsecured Portion of all NPLs (net of specific provisions and reserve
interest).

•

50% Risk Weight for Cash and Deposits with local banks.

•

20% Risk Weight for short term placement with local banks

•

0% Risk Weight for CBO Government Development Bonds.

•

100% Risk Weight for Unsecured Bonds

•

100% Risk weight for Fixed Assets and all Other Assets.

•

100% Risk Weight for Guarantees issued to banks for establishing LCs/ LPOs on behalf of Bank’s
customers.

•

0% Risk Weight to off-balance sheet items, such as, Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund,
Al Raffd Fund and SANAD Fund as the Bank acts as a Trustee for these items.

•

100% Risk Weight for all other unquoted Commercial Investments

•

50% Risk Weight for undrawn loan commitments with respect of loans approved

•

100% Risk Weight for commitments for acquisition of property and equipment
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•

100% Risk Weight for financial guarantees issued to third parties with respect to approved loans.

•

CRM techniques for reduction in Risk Weighted Assets against collaterals have not been applied.

Market Risk:
Bank’s Trading Book comprises of only a small position in equities. Bank has assigned 8% Risk Weight
for Specific Risk and 8% Risk Weight for General Market Risk for the Equities held in the Trading Book.
Operational Risk:
For calculation of Capital Adequacy Ratio for Operational Risks, the bank has used average positive
Operating Profit for last three years (net interest income + other recurring income) excluding
provisions and operating expenses, staff expenses, depreciation and recoveries, profit/loss on sale
of assets and extraordinary items.
ii. Quantitative Disclosures
A. Risk Weighted Assets (RO ‘000s)

Gross Balances
(Book Value)

Net Balances
(Book Value) *

Risk Weighted
Assets

Sl No

Details

1

On-balance sheet items

217,343

208,474

205,491

2

Off-balance items

22,409

22,409

12,332

3

Derivatives

0

0

0

4

Total

239,752

230,883

217,823

* Net of Provisions, reserve interest and eligible collaterals
B. Capital
Sl No. Details

(RO 000s)

1

Tier I Capital

160,113

2

Tier 2 Capital

2,093

3

Total Regulatory Capital

4

Capital Requirement for credit risk

5

Capital Requirement for market risk

1,306

6

Capital Requirement for operational risk

2,539

7

Total required capital

23,960

8

Tier I Ratio (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

73.51%
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9

Total Capital Ratio (as a percentage of risk weighted
assets)

74.47%

C. Risk Exposure and Assessment
Credit Risk - General Disclosures
Qualitative Disclosures

i.

Risk Management Objectives and policiesRisk Weighted Assets (RO ‘000s)

The Bank has established Risk Management Policy approved by Board of Directors (BOD). The primary
responsibility for ensuring that the risks are appropriately managed is with the BOD, which shall set
and approve the overall risk policies, limits, procedures and provide framework for Risk Management
of the Bank. The bank has set up an independent Risk Management Committee approved by the
BOD to monitor and review the implementation of risk management procedures approved by the
Board. The formation and the composition of the Risk Management Committee have been approved
by the Central Bank of Oman. The day-to-day management of risk, such as, identifying, monitoring,
controlling, reporting, etc., lies with the Risk Management Department and the line management.
The risk policy addresses risks relevant to areas of Credit, Market, Liquidity, and Operational Risks to
which the bank is exposed.
The Board of Directors has approved implementation of Integrated Risk Management Framework
and Risk Based Internal Audit and the bank is in the process of changing over to the framework.
Credit Risk:
The Risk Policy covers the management of various areas of Credit Risk, such as, maximum prudential
exposure limits, exposure concentrations, credit sanctioning , approval norms, facility tenors, loan
classification and provisioning norms, management of problem loans, credit origination, due diligence
process, target sectors, credit assessment and underwriting standards, collateral management, risk
rating framework, disbursals, monitoring and follow-up, credit reviews, pricing, reporting and post
sanction loan review. The Credit Committee/ Board of Directors assess the credit worthiness of
parties and business viability, before an exposure is approved. The exposures are monitored through
periodic site visits as well as system generated MIS reports. Proactive action is taken by respective
managers for exposures requiring remedial /recovery action.
As per CBO norms, the bank considers an exposure (non- retail) as non-performing if it continues to
remain past due for a period of 90 days or more.
The bank does not grant any consumer loans. All ODB loans up to and RO 50,000 are categorized as
Retail Portfolio and loans above RO 50,000 are treated as Corporate Portfolio. (The maximum loan is
RO 1 Million per project).
IFRS 9 has been implemented in ODB also with effect from 01-01-2018. The new impairment
requirements in IFRS 9 are based on an expected credit loss model and replace the IAS 39 incurred
loss model.
The expected credit loss model applies to debt instruments (such as Bank deposits, loans,
debt securities and trade receivables) recorded at amortized cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, plus lease receivables, contract assets and loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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The new IFRS 9 impairment requirements eliminate the IAS 39 threshold for the recognition of
credit losses (i.e. it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognized). Instead, Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is always accounted for and the loss allowance is
updated for changes in these ECLs at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘Three-Stage’ model (‘General Model’) for impairment based on changes in credit
quality since initial recognition. The three stages are as follows:
1. Stage 1: Not credit impaired – Impairments equal to 12-month expected loss
2. Stage 2: Significant Increase of Credit Risk (SICR) since origination – Impairments equal to lifetime
expected loss
3. Stage 3: Credit impaired – Impairments equal to lifetime expected loss
In ODB, 12 Month Expected Credit Loss (12M ECL) and Life time Expected Credit Loss (LECL) are
calculated for every performing facility. Both 12M ECL and LECL amounts would be the weighted
average of the ECL amounts for the three macroeconomic scenarios considered.
Stage (1 or 2) allocated to each performing facility would determine the final ECL. Stage allocation is
based on the Qualitative, Quantitative, and Back Stop criteria assessment.
All defaulted exposures are assigned to Stage 3. In addition, other facilities can be moved to Stage 3
if the account is exhibiting severe signs of distress. For these stage 3 exposures, ECLs are essentially
computed based on the discounted cash flows methodology, whereby the Life time ECL is computed
using the product of PD = 100%, EAD and LGD unless otherwise advised by the Regulator.
Stage 2 consists of facilities that have undergone SICR since initial recognition but have not defaulted.
For all Stage 2 exposures, Lifetime Expected Credit Loss is recognized, which might have a significant
impact on the overall ECL of the performing facilities.
Stage 1 is the stage, when there has been no SICR since initial recognition.
A facility is assigned to Stage 2 based on qualitative, quantitative and backstop criteria. All exposures
would be assigned to Stage 2 based on the following criteria:
Rule

Rule Trigger

Stage

Days Past
Due 0 ~ 29

All facilities within 30DPD are with a primary classification of
Stage 1

Stage 1

Days Past
Due 30 ~ 89

+30DPD is a primary trigger that will automatically move facilities
from Stage 1 to Stage 2. IFRS 9 allows banks to rebut the +30DPD
rule with reasonable and supportable information. In general,
ODB will not classify facilities under Stage 1 once they are +30DPD,
unless and on an exceptional basis and after due completion,
documentation and approval of an individual assessment.

Stage 2

For IFRS9, banks need to differentiate modification of assets due
Rescheduled to commercial reasons, credit stress or financial difficulty and
and
treat each case differently. As a start, any facilities that have been
Watch-list
rescheduled due to credit reasons will be classified as Stage 2. In
Credit
the event that the facility is also +90DPD then the facility with be
classified as Stage 3.
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The Stage 3 is typically aligned to accounts associated with +90DPD criterion, which under the prior
CBO guidelines amounted to “Substandard”, “Doubtful”, or “Loss”. Also, no cross default is applied to
reflect the contagion risk of multiple facilities belonging to the same customer.
The guiding principle of the ECL model is to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or improvement
in the credit quality of financial instruments. The amount of ECLs recognized as a loss allowance or
provision depends on the extent of credit deterioration since initial recognition. The extent of credit
deterioration helps define the credit stage of an obligor and hence the loss allowance.
From 2009 onwards, the bank is lending short term specific working capital credit facilities. The
provisioning policy is same as that is adopted for existing term loans and is in line with CBO guidelines.
The bank has created a non-distributable special/voluntary reserve by transferring a part of its profits
in order to meet any future contingencies or sudden losses. This has been approved by bank’s Annual
General Body. The special reserve continues to be RO 5.541 million from 31-12-2014.
As per CBO Circular BM 1149, for 2018, if the aggregate specific and general provisions along with
reserve interest as per extant CBO requirements computed is higher than the impairment allowance
computed under IFRS 9, the difference (net of the impact of taxation) should be transferred to an
Impairment Reserve as an appropriation from the net profit after taxes.
For ODB, as of 31/12/2018,
RO
The aggregate provision as per extant CBO norms

15,139,484

Impairment Allowance computed as per IFRS 9

14,363,426

Difference

776,057

The above amount of RO 776,057 is transferred to Impairment Reserve. And this reserve has not
been included in Regulatory Capital.
Market risk:
The bank does not have a Trading Book comprising of debt securities, foreign exchange, commodities,
derivatives and other positions. The bank has investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income / available-for-sale investment in the local market.
Operational Risk:
The Risk Policy deals with the various areas of Operational Risk. It covers procedures and controls
to be followed by each department, compliance functions, internal audit functions, policies and
procedures for managing human resources of the bank, money laundering, procedures for back-up
and storage of data, disaster recovery plan and security policies for access rights on the core banking
system.
Banking Book Interest Rate Risk:
The interest rate risk in the banking book arises due to maturity / re-pricing mismatches of the
assets and liabilities in the banking book. Bank need to manage this risk by analyzing the residual
contractual maturities of all interest bearing assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed by
the Assets and Liability cum Investment Committee of the bank.
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A. From 2006, the bank’s interest bearing assets (mainly project loans) were on the fixed rate terms
(interest rate of 9% p.a. including government subsidy), which were funded by its own capital and
reserves. Therefore there was no impact of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book. During 2015,
the Ministry of Finance has decided to reduce interest subsidy by 3% effective from 01-01-2015.
With this, the interest income including government subsidy has become 6% for term loans.
B. The bank is lending working capital loans at variable rates (market rates). The bank is accepting
Fixed Term Deposits (FTDs) at market rates. These have necessitated monitoring of interest rate
risks. The bank is analyzing the situation and taking adequate measures to manage the risks and
bring in mitigations to prevent any negative impact on the profitability. During the year 2017
AND 2018, the bank has availed term loan of USD 50 million each from a foreign bank with fixed
interest rate.

Liquidity Risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk the bank will face in obtaining funds to meet its obligations at any given time.
The bank’s liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that even under adverse conditions
the bank would be in a position to meet its obligations. Liquidity Risk is managed by the Assets and
Liability Cum Investment Committee which analyzes the Asset and Liability mismatches and ensures
a positive gap.
The bank is collecting fixed term Deposits from customers with the approval of Central Bank of
Oman. The bank is also working towards mobilizing resources through long term Bonds as and when
the need arises. The aim is to raise the funds for working capital lending by fixed term deposits and
find resources for long term loans from equity and long term bonds. However, as and when the
bank resorts to commercial borrowings for funding assets the bank might face liquidity risk, like any
financial intermediary institutions. The management is aware of the risk and will actively pursue
steps to mitigate this risk.
The Bank has adopted Basel III liquidity standards and is reporting the liquidity coverage ratio and
net stable funding ratio to CBO.
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR): This ratio aims to ensure that a bank maintains an adequate level of
unencumbered, high-quality liquid assets that can be converted into cash to meet its liquidity needs
for a 30 calendar day time horizon under a significantly severe liquidity stress scenario. The ratio is
calculated as follows –
LCR = Stock of High Quality Liquid Assets / Cash Outflow for next 30 days
As per guidelines, the value of the ratio should be minimum 100% (i.e. the stock of high quality liquid
assets should at least equal total net cash outflows) on monthly basis and the Bank is maintaining
the same.
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LCR Common Disclosure Template for the period ending: Dec 2018
(RO ‘000)
Total Unweighted
Value (average)

Total Weighted Value
(average)

High Quality Liquid Assets
1

Total High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA)
Cash Outflows

2

Retail deposits and deposits from
small business customers, of which:

10

1

3

Stable deposits

10

1

4

Less stable deposits

5
6
7

0

Unsecured wholesale funding, of
which:
Operational deposits (all
counterparties) and deposits in
networks of cooperative banks
Non-operational deposits (all
counterparties)

8

Unsecured debt

9

Secured wholesale funding

10

Additional requirements, of which

11
12

372

149

372

149

5,177

388

5,177

388

58

58

Outflows related to derivative
exposures and other collateral
requirements
Outflows related to loss of funding on
debt products

13

Credit and liquidity facilities

14

Other contractual funding obligations

15

Other contingent funding obligations

16

TOTAL CASH OUTFLOWS

596
Cash Inflows

17

Secured lending (e.g. reverse repos)

18

Inflows from fully performing
exposures

4,185

2,092

19

Other cash inflows

9,369

9,369

20

TOTAL CASH INFLOWS

13,554

11,461
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Total Adjusted Value
21

TOTAL HQLA

11,937

22

TOTAL NET CASH OUTFLOWS

23

LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO (%)

149
8,018

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR): The net stable funding ratio is designed to ensure that banks
rely more on long term funding and they maintain a sound funding structure over a horizon of one
year to withstand Bank specific stress events. The ratio aims to reduce over-reliance on short term
funding to create long term assets, especially during times of volatile liquidity conditions. The ratio is
calculated as follows
Net Stable Funding Ratio = Available Stable Funding (ASF) / Required Stable Funding (RSF) *100
As per guidelines, this ratio needs to be greater than 100% and the Bank maintained the same.
Unweighted value by residual maturity
ASF Item

1

Capital:

2

Regulatory capital

3

Other capital instruments

4

Retail deposits and deposits from small
business customers

5

Stable deposits

6

Less stable deposits

7

Wholesale funding:

8

Operational deposits

9

Other wholesale funding

10

Liabilities with matching interdependent assets

11

Other liabilities:

12

NSFR derivative liabilities

13
14

No

<6

6 months

maturity

months

to < 1yr

162,206

-

-

≥ 1yr

value
-

162,206

0

0

Weighted

162,206
162,206

372

129

372

129

0

0

0

476
476

0

0

All other liabilities and equity not included in
above categories
Total ASF

162,682

RSF Item
15
16
17
18

130

Total NSFR high-quality liquid assets (HQLA)
Deposits held at other financial institutions for
operational purposes
Performing loans and securities:
Performing loans to financial institutions
secured by Level 1 HQLA

0

18,925

6,041

-

12,483
-
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Performing loans to financial institutions
19

secured by non- Level 1 HQLA and unsecured
performing loans to financial institutions
Performing loans to non-financial corporate

20

clients, loans to retail and small business
customers, and loans to sovereigns, central

18,925

6,041

12,483

banks and PSEs, of which
-With a risk weight of less than or equal to 35%
21

under the Basel II Standardised approach for
credit risk

22.

Performing residential mortgages, of which:
With a risk weight of less than or equal to 35%

23

under the Basel II Standardised Approach for
credit risk
Securities that are not in default and do not

24

qualify as HQLA, including exchange-traded
equities

25

Assets with matching interdependent liabilities

26

Other Assets:

27

Physical traded commodities, including gold

0

3,293

0

3,293

Assets posted as initial margin for derivative
28

contracts and contributions to default funds of
CCPs

29
30
31

NSFR derivative assets
NSFR derivative liabilities before deduction of
variation margin posted
All other assets not included in the above
categories

3,293

32

Off-balance sheet items

7,799

33

TOTAL RSF

34

NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO (%)

3,293
5,485

9,125

1,120
16,897
963%

D. Equity:
Quoted Equity Investments are measured at market value. Unquoted investments are recognized at
cost and carried at fair value. These investments are managed under the guidance of the Asset and
Liabilities cum Investment Committee.Quantitative Disclosures
Qualitative Disclosures
ii. Total gross credit risk exposures, plus average gross exposures over the period broken down by
major types of credit exposure
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										Amount (RO.000s)
Sl. No

Type of Credit Exposure

Average Gross Exposure
Current Year

1

Overdraft

2

Staff Loan (Personal)

3

WC- Loans +LTR+ Pre-shipment Loans

4

Other Loans (Term Loans)

5

Bills Purchased / Discounted

6

Any Other (Staff Housing Loan)

7

Total

Previous

Total Gross Exposure
31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2017

0

0

0

0

61

37

77

44

6,451

4,866

7,558

5,345

140,304

128,528

145,953

134,655

0

0

0

0

1,302

1,227

1,310

1,294

148,118

134,658

154,898

141,338

iii. Geographic distribution of exposures, broken down in significant areas by major types of credit
exposure(RO.000s)

Sl No

Type of Credit Exposure

Oman
(1)

1

Overdraft

2

Personal Loans (Staff Loan)

3

WC- Loans +LTR+
Pre-shipment Loans

4

Other Loans (Term Loans)

5

Bills Purchased / Discounted

6

Any Other (Staff Housing
Loan)

7

Total

Other GCC
countries

OECD

(2)

(3)

India
(4)

Others
(5)

(6)

Total
(7)

0

0

77

77

7,558

7,558

145,953

145,953

0

0

1,310

1,310

154,898

0

0

0

0

0

154,898

* excluding countries included in column 2 [includes staff personal loans and staff Housing Loans)
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iv. Industry or counterparty type distribution of exposures, broken down by major types of credit
exposure. (RO.000s)
Sl No

Economic Sector

1

Import Trade

2

Export Trade

3

Wholesale & Retail Trade

4

Mining & Quarrying

5

Construction

6

Manufacturing

7

Overdraft

Term
Loans

WC
loans

Others

Total

Off B/S

1,406

-

1,406

-

-

-

49,061

5,263

54,324

6,677

Electricity, Gas and Water

819

-

819

103

8

Transport & Communication

586

-

586

50

9

Financial Institutions

-

-

-

10

Services

48,932

482

49,414

11

Personal Loans (Staff loan)

-

-

-

12

Agriculture & Allied activities

40,063

1,560

41,623

13

Government

-

-

-

14

Non-Resident Lending

-

-

-

15

All others

5,086

253

1,387

6,726

243

16

Total

145,953

7,558

1,387

154,898

22,409

0

1,205

12,495

1,636
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v. Residual contractual maturity breakdown of whole portfolio, broken down by major types of
credit exposure. (RO.000s)
Sl.
No.

Time Band

Overdraft

Term Loans

WC loans

Others

Total

Off B/S
Exposure

1

Up to 1 month

0

4,683

2913

21

7,617

2,453

2

1- 3 months

0

220

2954

42

3,216

2,268

3

3-6 months

0

1224

1611

61

2,896

3,078

4

6-9 months

0

1006

70

21

1,097

2431

5

9-12 months

0

1,415

0

19

1,434

3,054

6

1-3 years

0

18,979

10

154

19,143

9,125

7

3-5 years

0

44,507

152

44,659

8

Over 5 years

0

73,919

9

Total

0

145,953

134

916
7,558

1,387

74,835
154,898

22,409

Total

16

154,898

6,726

-

-

41,623

-

49,414

-

586

819

54,324

-

1,406
-

7

18,858

156

-

-

4,500

-

6,351

-

218

71

7,556

NPLs

Of which

-

21

2,153

62

-

-

724

-

574

-

8

17

747

Impairment

Stage 1

-

26

1,976

2

-

-

434

-

749

-

0

3

762

Impairment

Stage 2

-

4

10,234

111

-

-

2,963

-

2,783

-

119

37

4,217

Impairment

Stage 3

828

-78

-37

235

-19

-10

715

-

22

1,230

-

-

-

38

-

860

-

-

-

332

-

-

during the year

the year

Advances
Written off

*Provision
made during

*Impairment Provision made, less provision released as per IFRS 9. Effect of initial recognition not considered. Write-off
of RO 1,230 K comprises write off from ECL to the extent of RO 743 K and direct write-off of RO 487K.

All others

Lending

Non-Resident

Government

Allied Activities

Agriculture&

Loans(staff)

Personal

Services

Institutions

Financial

Communication

Transport&

15

14

13

12

11

10

9

8

and Water

Electricity, Gas

Manufacturing

6

7

Construction

Quarrying

Mining&

Retail Trade

Wholesale&

5

4

3

Export Trade

2

Loans

Sectors

Import Trade

Gross

Economic

1

Sl. No

vi. By major industry or counter party type: (RO.000s)
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135

136

OECD countries

India

Pakistan

Others

Total

4

5

6

7

countries

Other GCC

Oman

Countries

3

2

1

Sl. No

154,898

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

18,858

18,858

NPLs

Loans

154,898

Of which

Gross

2,153

0

0

0

0

0

2,153

Impairment

Stage 1

1,976

0

0

0

0

0

1,976

Impairment

Stage 2

0

0

0

0

0

10,234

10,234

Impairment

Stage 3

828

828

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,230

1,230

during the year

the year

Advances
Written off

made during

*Provision

vii. Amount of impaired loans, if available, past due loans provided separately broken down significant
geographic areas including if practical the amounts of specific and general allowances related to
each geographical area.
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viii. Movement on Gross Loans
ODB has been submitting BOSS reports from June 2008, after the implementation of the new core
banking system. (Figures in Table below are for Term Loan and Working capital taken together.)
Movement of Gross Loans during the quarter ending 31/12/2018- (RO ‘000)
Sl No

Details

15.1

Opening Balance

15.2
15.3

Migration / changes
(+ / -)
New Loans/
Additions

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Total

112,345

16,884

20,990

150,219

(1,881)

1,875

6

-

15,395

273

673

16,341

15.4

Recovery of Loans

9,105

1,133

2,803

13,041

15.5

Loans written off

-

-

8

8

15.6

Closing Balance

116,754

17,899

18,858

153,511

15.7

Total Provisions
(IFRS 9)

2,153

1,976

10,234

14,363

E. Credit Risk: Disclosures for Portfolios subject to the Standardized Approach
Qualitative Disclosures
A. For portfolio under standardized approach, bank has not used assessments by External Credit
Assessment Institutions (ECAIs) for claims on corporates and banks, but has instead used 100%
risk weight for them considering the nature of Bank’s operations and size.
B. Quantitative Disclosures
The bank has not reduced exposure / applied risk mitigation based on external (ECAI) ratings.

F. Credit Risk Mitigation: Disclosures for Standardization Approaches
Qualitative Disclosures
A. The bank has not used Credit Risk Mitigation through collaterals for reducing the Risk Weighted
Assets.
B. The bank has not used on and off-balance sheet netting.
C. The bank has a Collateral Policy, which covers types of eligible collaterals, valuation, maintenance
procedures and management. In accepting collaterals, the bank considers the ease of
enforceability, and liquidity for tangible collaterals as well as creditworthiness and financial
strength of guarantors. The bank makes an endeavor to avoid concentration of collaterals (credit
and market) as far as possible. While accepting collaterals the bank evaluates the correlation, if
any, between the value of collateral and the credit quality of the counterparty.
D. The bank endeavor’s to obtain acceptable collateral cover for its exposures as far as commercially
practicable. The primary collateral for loan exposures is project assets financed by the bank.
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A. However, where feasible and required, the bank accepts other collaterals to mitigate the credit
risk. The eligible collaterals include Pledge of Cash/ Deposit, Bonds& Shares; Bank Guarantees,
Mortgage over Real Estate, Commercial Charge over Assets, Joint Registration over Assets,
Personal / Corporate Guarantees, Assignment of Insurance Policies (Life/ Fire, etc.).
B. These collaterals are integrated in internal risk rating model to quantify the risk and assess the
Loss Given Default (LGD)
C. Collaterals, such as, real estate and shares are valued periodically. Values of Shares are updated
based on the latest market value. Real estate is valued by reputed valuers every three years.
D. Documentation for perfection of security interest in the collateral is verified by the legal
department. The security documentation is maintained in fire proof cabinets.
E. The bank periodically checks and updates the documentation and ensures continuity of
enforceability by keeping the related documents (life insurance, fire insurance, etc.) up to date.
F. The bank is making provision requirement as per IFRS 9 norms from 01-01-2018. As required by
CBO, parallel calculation of Provision and reserve Interest as per BM 977 is also made.

Qualitative Disclosures
The bank has not used Credit Mitigation for reducing the Risk Weighted Assets.

G. Market Risk in Trading Book: Disclosures for Banks using the Standardized duration
Approach
Qualitative Disclosures
A. As far as the Market Risk is concerned, Bank’s Trading Book comprises of only a small position in
equities. The bank is not exposed to commodity risk and foreign exchange risk as it neither deals
in commodities nor in foreign currencies. Bank has assigned 8% Risk Weight for Specific Risk and
8% Risk Weight for Market Risk for the Equities held in the trading Book.
Qualitative Disclosures
A. The capital requirement of Equity Position Risk is the following:
Market Value of
Equity (RO 000s)

5,938

(A) Specific
Risk (8%)

475

(B) General
Market Risk (8%)

475

(C) RWA [(A) +
(B)]*12.5

Capital
Requirement
[11% of (C)]

11,875

1,306

H. Market Risk in Trading Book: Disclosures for Banks using the Standardized duration
Approach
Interest Rate Risk (IRR) for conventional banking: Interest rate risk is the risk where changes in
market interest rates might adversely affect a Bank’s financial condition. The immediate impact (up
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to one year) of changes in interest rates is on the Net Interest Income (NII) and a long term impact
(more than one year) of changing interest rates is on the Bank’s net worth.
Qualitative Disclosures
A. Since 2006, the bank’s interest bearing assets (mainly project loans) were on the fixed rate
terms (interest rate of 9% p.a. including government subsidy), which were funded by its own
capital and reserves. Therefore there was no impact of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book.
During 2015, the Ministry of Finance has decided to reduce interest subsidy by 3% effective
from 01-01-2015. With this, the interest income including government subsidy has become
6% for term loan. In 2009, the bank had resorted to short term borrowings from banks to
meet short term needs. With the injection of fresh equity, there was no much impact on the
profitability. During the later years up to 2016, the bank has not availed bank borrowings.
B. From 2009, the bank started disbursing working capital loans at variable rates (market rates) to
its existing clients in a small way. The bank also started accepting Fixed Term Deposits (FTDs) at
market rates. These have necessitated monitoring of interest rate risks.
C. During 2017, the bank availed a term loan of USD 50 million from a foreign financial institution.
The loan carries fixed interest rate and has a tenure of ten years with grace period of two years.
The instalments are payable on semi-annual basis of USD 3.5 million from years 3 to 9 and
USD 1 million in the last year with first payment due on 30 September 2020. During 2018, the
bank availed another term loan of USD 50 million from the foreign financial institution. The
loan carries fixed interest rate and has a tenure of ten years with grace period of two years.
The instalments are payable on semi-annual basis of USD 3.5 million from years 3 to 9 and USD
1 million in the last year with first payment due on 01 October 2021.As the above loans are at
fixed interest rate, the bank will not face interest rate risk. The bank is analyzing the situation
and will be taking adequate measures to manage the risks, if any and will bring in any mitigation
to prevent any negative impact on the profitability.
Qualitative Disclosures
As mentioned above, there was no impact of upward or downward rate shock as interest bearing
assets were at fixed rates and the bank funded its asset portfolio mostly from its own capital and
reserves.
As of 31/12/2018, the bank has outstanding fixed term deposits liability of RO 0.501 Million. The
weighted average rate of interest as of 31/12/2018 is 1.06% p.a.
The term loan outstanding (borrowings from foreign institution) is RO 38.654 Million as on
31/12/2018. Repayment of principal has not commenced.
I.

Liquidity Risk

Qualitative Disclosures
A. Liquidity Risk is managed by the Assets and Liability cum Investment Committee of the bank.
Asset Liability mismatches are analyzed and a positive gap is ensured. As all long term assets
of the bank were funded by Equity plus reserves and there was no Liquidity Risk arising out of
Asset and Liabilities mismatches.
B. During the year 2009, to manage short term liquidity, the bank resorted to short term interbank
borrowings. The bank has also started collecting fixed term Deposits from the customers with
the approval of Central Bank of Oman.
C. During 2016, the Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development approved a loan of USD
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A. 50,000,000 to the Bank which has been disbursed to the Bank on 12 August 2017. The loan has
a tenure of ten years with grace period of two years. During 2018, another term loan of USD
50 million has been availed with similar terms. With these, the bank may face liquidity risk. The
management is aware of the risk and will actively pursue steps to mitigate them.
Qualitative Disclosures
As mentioned above, there was no impact of liquidity risk arising out of mismatches in assets and
liabilities as all assets were mostly funded by the bank’s equity. As of 31/12/2018, the deposits
outstanding in the bank are worth RO 0.501 Million.
The term loan outstanding is RO 38.654 Million (RO 38.5 million principal+ interest accrued of RO
0.154 million).

J.

Operational Risk

Qualitative Disclosures
The Risk Policy of the bank specifies the policies relating to Operational Risks and covers areas, such
as, Human Resources, IT, Operational Procedures, Compliance, Internal Audit, Money Laundering,
etc.
The bank has used the Basic Indicator Approach for calculating the capital adequacy for Operational
Risk. The bank has considered average positive Gross Income for last three years. The Gross Income
is the aggregate of Net Interest Income and non-interest Income and excludes extra ordinary income
and realized profit on Held to Maturity or Available for Sale investments. The Gross Income also
excludes provisions and operating expenses and also staff expenses, depreciation and recoveries.
There are no major regulatory/ supervisory actions taken against the bank during the year. No
penalties have been imposed.

K. Foreign Exchange Risk:
Foreign Exchange Risk maybe defined as the risk that a Bank may suffer losses as a result of adverse
exchange rate movements during a period in which it has an open position, either spot or forward,
or a combination of the two, in an individual foreign currency.
As of 31-12-2018, the bank has liability of USD 100 million together with interest accrued as term
loan outstanding. The loans are payable in instalments till year 2028. The repayment of principal and
interest is to be in USD. This give rise to foreign exchange risk. Since Omani Rial and USD are pegged,
no impact is foreseen. However, any change in exchange rate between the currencies will give rise
to foreign exchange risk. The bank is aware of this risk and will actively pursue steps to mitigate it, if
required

4. Overview and Conclusion
The bank’s BIS capital adequacy ratio was 74.5% at as at the end of December 2018, as against a
minimum of 12.875% (including capital conservation buffer under Basel III) required by regulatory
authorities.
Against the CBO stipulation of CET1, Tier 1 and Total Capital levels of 8.875%, 10.875% and 12.875%
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respectively, the actual ratios as of 31-12-2018 are 73.5%, 73.5% and 74.5% respectively.
The bank has created and implemented a risk management control and evaluation system that is
responsive to current requirements, is compliant with Basel II and Basel III requirements of Central
Bank of Oman and generally meets the objectives for the complexity and size of the bank.
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